
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764454  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 
 

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL 
 
Date & Time - Tuesday, 2 March 2021 at 6.30 pm 
 

Venue - This will be a meeting held in line with The 
Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & 
Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & 
Wales) Regulations 2020 

 
The meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and 
streamed live, via the following link: 

www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial/ 

 

Membership of the Policy Development Panel: 
 
Councillors: J R Astill, J Avery, A C Beal, F Biggadike, M D Booth, R A Gibson, M Hasan, 
J L King, J D McLean, P A Redgate, J L Reynolds, G T D Rudkin, G P Scalese (Vice-
Chairman), S-A Slade, S C Walsh and A R Woolf (Chairman) 
 
Substitute members on the Policy Development Panel may be appointed only from 
members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual meetings. 
 
Quorum: 6 
 

 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode 

Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   22 February 2021 



 

 

A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence.  

 
 

2.  Minutes -  
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the following meetings: 
 

 

a)   Policy Development Panel -  
4 November 2020 (copy enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
5 - 10) 

b)   Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel -  
17 November 2020 (copy enclosed) 
 

(Pages 
11 - 32) 

c)   Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel -  
21 January 2021 (copy enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
33 - 38) 

d)   Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel -  
9 February 2021 (copy enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
39 - 46) 

3.  Declaration of Interests. -  
Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest and leave the meeting without participating in 
any discussion or making a statement on the item, except where a 
councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation. 
 

 

4.  Questions asked under Standing Order 6  
 

 

5.  Tracking of recommendations -  
To consider responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Panel.   
 

 

6.  Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel  
 

 

7.  Key Decision Plan -  
To note the current Key Decision Plan (copy enclosed).   
 

(Pages 
47 - 52) 

8.  Policy Register -  
To note the current Policy Register. 
 

(Pages 
53 - 58) 

9.  Review of Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy -  
To seek approval of the revised Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy 
and to advise Members of the consultation process required to 
implement a new policy (report of the Portfolio Holder for HRA and 
Private Sector Housing and the Executive Director Commercialisation 
(S151) enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
59 - 90) 

10.  Policy Development Panel Work Programme -  
To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel 
(report of the Executive Manager Governance (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) enclosed. 

(Pages 
91 - 96) 



 

 

 
11.  Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. -  

 
 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.   

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



- 20 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in line with The 
Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority 
& Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on 
Wednesday, 4 November 2020 at 6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
A R Woolf (Chairman) 

G P Scalese (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 

J R Astill 
A C Beal 
R A Gibson 
 

P A Redgate 
J L Reynolds 
G T D Rudkin 
 

S C Walsh 
 

In Attendance:  The Director (Acting), the Executive Manager for Governance, the 
Licensing and Business Support Manager, the Health and Safety Advisor, the  
Manager - Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens, the Democratic Services 
Manager, the Democratic Services Officer and the Portfolio Holder for Public 
Protection. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors F Biggadike, 
M Hasan, J L King and S-A Slade  
 
 
 Action By 

29. MINUTES   

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of the 
Policy Development Panel held on 15 September 2020. 
 

AGREED: 
 
That the minutes be signed as a correct record as soon as 
practicable after the meeting.  

 

   

30. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.   

  

 There were none.   

   

31. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6   

  

 There were none.   

   

32. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS   

  

 There were none.   

   

33. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 PANEL  

 

  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.a)



- 21 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 4 
November 2020 

 

 

 

 There were none.   

   

34. KEY DECISION PLAN   

  

 Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan dated 27 
October 2020.    
 

AGREED: 
 
That the Key Decision Plan be noted.  

 

   

35. POLICY REGISTER   

  

 The Panel gave consideration to the Policy Register dated 26 
October 2020. 
 

The Chairman advised that where any Policy review deadlines 
had not been met, a full explanation had been provided.  
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Policy Register be noted.  

 

   

36. AYSCOUGHFEE HALL MUSEUM COLLECTIONS 
 DEVELOPMENT POLICY  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation, which sought the views of the Policy 
Development Panel regarding Ayscoughfee Hall Museum’s 
Collections Development Policy.  Any feedback from the Panel 
would be considered by the Portfolio Holder when considering 
adopting the new policy. 
 

Ayscoughfee Hall Museum was Accredited by Arts Council 
England.  The Accreditation scheme was a national framework for 
museums that laid out best practice guidelines and standards to 
follow, to ensure professionalism and consistency.  Accredited 
status allowed Ayscoughfee Hall Museum access to professional 
networks, training, support and funding. 
 
A key requirement for Accreditation was the need for two policies 
– Collections Development and Care and Conservation.  The 
Collections Development Policy described the existing collections 
held by the Museum, priorities for future collecting, and priorities 
for any disposal that could occur.   
 
Arts Council England reviewed each museum’s Accreditation on a 
regular basis, reviewing policies and ensuring that they had been 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



- 22 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 4 
November 2020 

 

 

 

discussed and approved by the relevant governing body.  
Ayscoughfee Hall Museum’s policies were last formally approved 
in 2012, but had been updated with minor revisions as best 
practice and industry guidance was received.  The Museum’s 
Accreditation Review was due to take place in February 2021, 
having been paused during the Covid 19 pandemic. 
 
Members considered the content of the report, and the following 
issues were raised: 
 

 It was requested that any proposed changes within newer 
versions of all policies presented to the Panel be highlighted, 
to make it easier for members to scrutinise them more 
effectively.  

 
AGREED: 
 
That the Ayscoughfee Hall Museum Collections Development 
Policy be noted.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CM  

   

37. AYSCOUGHFEE HALL MUSEUM COLLECTIONS CARE & 
 CONSERVATION POLICY  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation, which sought the views of the Policy 
Development Panel regarding Ayscoughfee Hall Museum’s 
Collections, Care and Conservation Policy. 
 

Ayscoughfee Hall Museum was Accredited by Arts Council 
England.  The Accreditation scheme was a national framework for 
museums that laid out best practice guidelines and standards to 
follow, to ensure professionalism and consistency.  Accredited 
status allowed Ayscoughfee Hall Museum access to professional 
networks, training, support and funding. 
 
A key requirement for Accreditation was the need for two policies 
– Collections Development; and Care and Conservation.  The 
Care and Conservation Development Policy provided a generic 
framework within which all aspects of environmental management 
were deliverable at minimum sustainable levels and in 
accordance with agreed benchmark parameters, adhering to 
minimum standards of best practice in collections care. 
 
Arts Council England reviewed each museum’s Accreditation on a 
regular basis, reviewing policies and ensuring that they had been 
discussed and approved by the relevant governing body.  
Ayscoughfee Hall Museum’s policies were last formally approved 
in 2012, but had been updated with minor revisions as best 

 

Page 7



- 23 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 4 
November 2020 

 

 

 

practice and industry guidance was received.  The Museum’s 
Accreditation Review was due to take place in February 2021, 
having been paused during the Covid 19 pandemic. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Ayscoughfee Hall Museum Collections Care & 
Conservation Policy be noted.  

   

38. CORPORATE HEALTH & SAFETY POLICY 2020   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151), which proposed a revised Health and 
Safety Policy for consideration by the Policy Development Panel, 
prior to its submission to the Cabinet. 
 

The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 imposed duties on 
South Holland District Council, as an employer.  These included: 
 
1. Adoption and review of a written Health and Safety Policy 

Statement; 
2. Ensuring, so far as was reasonably practicable, the health, 

safety and welfare at work of its employees; and 
3. Ensuring, so far as was reasonably practicable, the health and 

safety of others visiting South Holland District Council’s 
premises or using its services. 

 
The existing Health and Safety Policy had been in force since 
2017, and was now due for review.  The revised policy had been 
amended to take account of the changes in the Corporate 
Structure.  The Policy was still applicable to both South Holland 
District Council and Breckland Council and provided commonality.  
It had also been reviewed to ensure it remained up to date, was 
effective and relevant.  The Head of Paid Service had overall 
responsibility for the implementation of the Policy. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Corporate Health and Safety Policy 2020 be noted, and 
taken forward to the Cabinet for approval and adoption.  

 

   

39. REVISED STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Licensing and 
Business Support Manager, which asked that the Panel consider 
the draft Statement of Licensing Policy (2021 to 2026). 
 

The Council was required to have a ‘Statement of Licensing 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



- 24 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 4 
November 2020 

 

 

 

Policy’ for their area to guide them when considering licence 
applications and controlling licensed premises.  The previous 
policy was approved in December 2015 and took effect in January 
2016. The policy was required to be reviewed at least every 5 
years. 
 
The draft policy, attached at Appendix A to the report, had been 
fully rewritten from the previous 2016 version, bringing it up to 
date and presenting it in a better, more user-friendly format.  It 
had been prepared in accordance with the provisions of section 5 
of the Licensing Act 2003, and the revised Home Office Guidance 
made under section 182 of the Act. 
 
South Holland District Council was responsible for the licensing of 
all licensable activities under the Licensing Act 2003, and these 
were listed within the report.  The policy was concerned with the 
regulation of these activities on licensed premises, qualifying 
clubs and at temporary events.  It aimed to ensure a consistent 
approach to licensing in South Holland to assist officers and 
members in reaching a decision on a particular application or 
licence. 
 
In addition, the policy sought to provide clarity for applicants, 
‘other persons’ (any individual, body or business entitled to make 
representation to an application under the Act) and Responsible 
Authorities’ to enable them to understand the objectives being 
promoted and the matters that would be considered when 
determining licences.   
 
The report laid out how the new draft policy differed from the 2016 
adopted policy.  It also stated that a 6 week consultation had been 
carried out with the public, responsible authorities and licensed 
businesses.  The feedback received was detailed within the 
report. 
 
The Chairman thanked the officer for the report and commented 
that he fully supported the comments raised by the Lincolnshire 
Police Alcohol Licensing Team, and that with the support of the 
Panel, this be carried forward to the  Committee of the Licensing 
Authority meeting, due to be held the following day. 
 
AGREED: 
 
a) That the Revised Statement of Licensing Policy be noted; and 
 
b) That the consultation feedback provided by the Police be 

noted, and addressed within the new Policy.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DH  

   

Page 9



- 25 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 4 
November 2020 

 

 

 

40. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME   

  

 The Panel considered a report by the Executive Manager for 
Governance, which set out the work programme of the Panel.  
The work programme consisted of two sections, the first setting 
out the dates of future panel meetings along with proposed items 
for consideration, and the second setting out Task Groups that 
had been identified by the Panel. 
 

Members considered the report, and the following issues were 
raised: 
 

 The Chairman had liaised with the Executive Manager for 
Governance with regard to the Data Protection Task Group re-
grouping to consider implications as a result of the UK’s exit 
from EU.  He reported that this was not currently required but 
that members would be advised if and when the Task Group 
was required for this issue. 

 Planning Design Task Group – It was noted that the remit for 
strategic planning now fell under a new portfolio.  The 
Planning and Building Control Manager would be updating the 
Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategy and Partnerships to 
update on the position with regard to the Task Group. 

 With regard to the pending Devolution Task Group, members 
were advised that the publication of a White Paper had been 
expected. This had not yet happened, which prevented further 
progress. 

 
AGREED: 
 
That the Work Programme be noted.  

 

   

41. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT.  

 

  

 There were no urgent items.  However, the Chairman wished for 
his thanks to the outgoing Vice-Chairman of the Policy 
Development Panel, Councillor McLean, to be noted, and also 
welcomed Councillor Scalese as the incoming Vice-Chairman.  

CM  

   

 
(The meeting ended at 6.56 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
 
 

Page 10



- 1 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in line with The Local Authorities & Police & 
Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel 
Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on Tuesday, 17 November 2020 at 
6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
 
 
 

 

B Alcock 
J R Astill 
J Avery 
A C Beal 
M D Booth 
C J T H Brewis 
T A Carter 
 

A C Cronin 
R A Gibson 
J D McLean 
N H Pepper 
P A Redgate 
J L Reynolds 
G T D Rudkin 
 

A C Tennant 
J Tyrrell 
S C Walsh 
D J Wilkinson 
A R Woolf 
 

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors F Biggadike, 
M Hasan, J L King, G P Scalese and S-A Slade  
 
In Attendance:  The Interim Director, the Executive Manager Growth ,the Housing 
Landlord Services Manager, the Democratic Services Manager, the Democratic 
Services Officer and the Democratic Services Trainee. 
 
 
 
 Action By 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN   

  

 Councillor Woolf was elected Chairman for the duration of the 
meeting. 

 

   

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

  

 The Panel was advised of the following substitution for this 
meeting only: 
 
Councillor A M Newton was replacing Councillor M Hasan 

 

   

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

  

 There were none.  

   

4. HOMELESSNESS - HORIZON SCANNING   

  

 The Housing Landlord Services Manager provided the Panel with 
a presentation on Homelessness in the District, the current 
situation and how the Authority planned to address the issues. 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 2.b)



- 2 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

 
The presentation provided information on the following: 

 A definition of homelessness; 

 The homelessness position in South Holland in the first week 
of November 2020;  

 The 2020 year to date figure for households in interim 
accommodation (the average for the year was higher due to in 
year Covid19 pressures, largely impacted by the Everyone In 
initiative, where the Council was required to accommodate 29 
rough sleepers, or those at risk of rough sleeping in hotel 
accommodation); 

 Rough sleeping – Significant interventions into this problem 
were being addressed.  South Holland, together with South 
Kesteven, North Kesteven and West Lindsey District Councils, 
had obtained grant monies from the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) under their 
RSI3 scheme in the region of £600,000 – the project was 
aimed at targeting rough sleepers and those at risk of rough 
sleeping.  South Holland had been awarded a small amount of 
revenue funding from another MHCLG fund, Next Steps 
Accommodation Programme (NSAP) towards short term 
winter pressures. Finally, South Holland had recently been 
awarded a further MHCLG funding allocation from the Cold 
Weather fund, to provide enhanced winter support to rough 
sleepers or those households who the Council would not 
ordinarily have a duty to assist; 

 Resources (People and Places). This detailed the various 
ways in which the team aimed to respond to homelessness: 1) 
Pathfinder - The Housing Options team were temporarily 
refocused into prevention, relief and private sector through a 
Tenancy Relations Officer role. Officers were being recruited 
to take on the role of Housing First Responder to assess, 
support and give basic advice to the increasing number of 
applicants contacting the Council for more general advice; 2) 
Change4Lincs – This project included access to a Rough 
SIeeping Coordinator, 4 Street Outreach Workers, 4 
Supported Tenancy Officers, 2 Intensive Support Workers (1 
dedicated to South Holland) and 2 Lettings Officers; 3) NSAP 
– In addition to accommodation solutions the Council could 
develop, there would also be access to additional support 
services through the provision of revenue funding for an 
additional Intensive Support Worker; 4) Help2Rent – The 
Council was currently in final negotiations with this insurance 
provider. This was a government backed service where local 
councils could purchase an insurance policy to support access 
to the private sector.  The policy provided cover in place of a 
deposit, missed rent, damage, abandonment and legal fees.  

Page 12



- 3 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

Additional cover was also being added in for pets.  The 
scheme would be adopted by all other Lincolnshire District 
Councils offering the same product to ensure continuity for 
private sector offers; 5) Affordable Housing pipeline – There 
had been 31 rented unit completions for the year to date, with 
a further 42 expected.  There were also 82 units planned for 
2021/22; and 6) Void turnover – For the year to date - 207 
Council properties had become void and available for letting.  
Of these, 144 were general needs and 63 were sheltered 
housing properties.  The highest demand accommodation, 1 
bed general needs, saw the lowest level of turnover, with only 
11 properties becoming void. The highest property type 
becoming void was general needs, 3 bed houses, and 63 had 
become available during the period. 

 Systems (Northgate upgrade) – Members were advised that 
an upgrade to the Northgate system was well underway. The 
system had been used for certain areas of housing for some 
time, but all housing work was now being moved onto it, and 
this would allow Northgate to be used more effectively in areas 
such as business intelligence.  Housing options would have a 
much improved back office and customer facing experience 
through Housing Online and My Options, which would be 
much more interactive than was currently the case.  
Customers could upload information, which would be sent 
directly to the case officer, and would be more efficient by 
reducing the amount of time officers spent on administration 
tasks.  Personal housing plans could be managed online with 
the customer.  For those customer unable to access the 
system however, alternative arrangements would be made.       

 Use of intelligence – There were sources of intelligence that 
could be used to shape services going forward: 1) 
Employment rates within the district were being closely 
monitored; 2) One of the most significant changes had been 
the number of people claiming Universal Credit, rising from 
2891 in October 2019 to 7278 in October 2020; 3) There had 
been a significant rise in those seeking work and in receipt of 
benefits, rising from 1150 in October 2019 to 2590 in October 
2020 – this information indicated a significant change in 
people’s circumstances, and that these circumstances were 
changing quickly; and 4) There had been a large increase in 
the take-up of the Discretionary Housing Payment – to date, 
£82,611 had been claimed from a total of £159,737, leaving 
£77,126 available until 31 March 2021.  This was a strong 
position for South Holland, where take-up normally had to be 
encouraged.  Officers confirmed that early intervention, and 
recognition of where other opportunities existed was vital.  The 
Council had important links with the DWP which were very 

Page 13



- 4 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

important, and also with the economy in South Holland which 
could highlight any knock-on effects that might affect people’s 
circumstances.  There had been an incremental rise in 
homelessness in South Holland and it was very important to 
monitor the intelligence to reach conclusions and respond 
effectively at an early stage. 

 Opportunities – There was an opportunity for Policy 
development and how performance was interpreted: 1) 
Housing Assistance Policy – this had recently been approved 
by the Cabinet and had been updated to improve access to 
financial assistance for homeless households, to provide 
greater scope to apply discretion to Disabled Facilities Grants 
(grants to support home owners and options for bringing 
empty homes back into use), and to highlight financial 
assistance available to existing council tenants facing hardship 
to support them in sustaining their tenancy; 2) Allocations 
Policy – work was currently underway on reviewing and 
making substantial changes to this policy. It was import to 
have a policy that met the needs of the client group and that 
also allowed the council, as a landlord, to allocate its 
properties effectively, and to also manage and host a suitable 
housing register that fulfilled the requirements of the Council’s 
registered provider partners; 3) Sheltered Housing Review – it 
was proposed that a sheltered housing review be undertaken 
to look at the type of properties and facilities on offer within 
SHDC’s sheltered housing stock.  Consideration would be 
given to the type and quantity of stock held and whether it was 
appropriate to meet needs.  Properties could be proposed for 
alternative uses which could assist the Council in fulfilling its 
wider housing demand; 4) Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
strategy – the current strategy was due to come to an end next 
year and this was an opportunity for the replacement strategy 
to be revised and shaped to take account of local priorities and 
pressures; and 5) Future funding opportunities – The Council 
had been successful in the last 12 months in achieving 
funding, with outline commitment from MHCLG of over 
£1million of funding in support of rough sleeping.  It was 
important that SHDC continued to secure any additional 
monies and continued to position itself effectively to take 
advantage of opportunities when they arose.                          

 
Members considered the information and the following issues 
were raised. 

 

 During the Covid period, there was an embargo on 
undertaking any evictions – did officers anticipate many 
problems once evictions could proceed again? 

Page 14



- 5 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

o Officers advised that the extended notice period, 
previously 2 months, was currently 6 months, and 
this provided a greater lead-in time to work with 
people.  There was a significant backlog of cases to 
be heard through the County Court system and 
these were being held in order of priority.  There 
were also other factors that would affect the rate at 
which people presented themselves.  The numbers 
presenting themselves for loss of accommodation in 
the private sector had reduced from around 30% of 
SHDC’s homelessness statistics to 10% currently.  
There were various reasons that this, for example, 
changes in financial or personal circumstances, the 
state of the property etc.  The Council was working 
with partners and encouraging tenants to contact 
the Council at the earliest opportunity.  In addition, 
two resources had been re-positioned as Tenancy 
Relations Officers to respond and build up expertise 
to try and address the rise in private sector evictions 
that was likely to occur.   

 

 What type of properties did the Council need to acquire in 
order to meet the needs of the homeless, and for general 
needs? 

o The reason for the higher void figures for three 
bedroom properties was that these were the 
properties that the Authority had the most of.  The 
highest demand currently within general needs 
housing was for single person accommodation, and 
one or two bedroom properties, of which the 
Authority had a low number within its stock. With 
regard to the development of properties, officers 
explained that one of the main roles of the Strategic 
Housing Team was to liaise with developers when 
planning applications were submitted, in order to 
negotiate and secure the maximum level of 
affordable housing to meet needs, and to try and 
influence the design and type of properties in line 
with local identified need.   Over the last few years, 
the focus of delivery had been on increasing the 
amount of 1 or 2 bedroom accommodation.  The 
Authority played an important role in working with 
developers and housing associations to shape the 
type of properties that were built in order that they 
could meet identified need.  The Council could also 
directly dictate accommodation type when it built its 
own properties and again, the focus was on 1 and 2 

Page 15



- 6 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

bedrooms, as well as other options such as shared 
ownership accommodation for older people.       

 

 At the meeting of Performance Monitoring Panel on 10 
November, officers had been asked to explain the rise in void 
properties over the period.  Had there been any further 
analysis on the information? 

o Officers confirmed that there had been a higher 
level of notices submitted within the pandemic 
period which had resulted in a higher number of 
voids.  As stated at the meeting of Performance 
Monitoring Panel, the reason for many of the notices 
to quit had been that tenants were seeking 
accommodation where care was provided.  Officers 
needed to understand specifically what that meant – 
were tenants moving to a more formal care setting, 
or to live with family or friends to receive care?  The 
restrictions imposed as a result of the pandemic had 
meant that it was very likely that the level of informal 
support from friends, families and neighbours would 
have dropped, which could be affecting the rise in 
notices to quit.  When analysis of the information 
had been undertaken, officers would provide this to 
a future meeting.  Officers also stated that the 
Authority needed to be clear on the Sheltered 
Housing offer available, in order that people could 
make informed choices.  There were now many tiers 
of sheltered provision and it was not as 
straightforward as it had been in the past. 

 

 Did the Authority still work with P3? Was Change for Lincs the 
replacement for the service provided by P3?  SHDC had not 
been directly involved with P3 however, this would change 
with Change for Lincs – was the Authority stretching itself by 
being more directly involved, and did it have the specialist 
knowledge required? 

o Officers advised that P3 wished to exit from 
Lincolnshire and had therefore not submitted a bid 
for the Housing Related Support Contract.  The new 
contract was now in place.  P3 would still be 
providing the Street Outreach service until the end 
of March 2021, when the service would end.  
Officers explained that SHDC could have bid for 
RS13 monies in its own right however, in terms of 
support from the bid and monies allocated, this 
would have limited the services that the Authority 
could provide.  Instead, it had pursued the Change 

Page 16



- 7 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

for Lincs project, which involved working with North 
Kesteven, South Kesteven and West Lindsey 
District Councils which created a greater bidding 
power to allow each of the authorities to do what 
they wanted.  Working together also allowed for the 
sharing of expertise and also the sharing and 
moving around of particular resources to address 
specific areas of pressure in each of the districts.  A 
Partnership Board had been set up and each 
Authority was equally represented.  South Kesteven 
was the lead authority and undertook the 
administration of the contract, finances, human 
resources and associated elements.  The 
arrangement was working well, and 14 members of 
staff had been brought on board       

 

 What was the Cold Weather Fund? 
o Officers advised that SHDC had access to a Cold 

Weather Fund which funded eligible individuals to 
be helped in situations over and above what the 
Housing Options Service would normally do.   

 

 Members were pleased to hear that the Allocations Policy was 
being reviewed, and asked for a summary of the proposed 
recommendations. 

o Officers advised that they were hoping to both 
broaden the number of applicants on the register, 
and were also seeking to use the Allocations Policy 
strategically in attracting applicants, to create 
momentum in the market and ensure a robust 
Housing Register.  They were also proposing to give 
equal priority to customers with a prevention or relief 
need, to encourage people to engage with the 
Authority at an earlier opportunity, rather than leave 
it too late when their circumstances may have 
worsened. The register was currently top heavy with 
individuals in the most extreme circumstances, and 
there needed to be more movement across it.  
Rather than re-shaping the Allocations Policy as a 
matter of course, it was essential that the Authority 
brought forward a procedure that worked effectively, 
that it engaged with its partners, encouraged people 
to join the register and that encouraged registered 
providers in having confidence in developing social 
accommodation in South Holland. 

 

 Members acknowledged that the Authority had a very large 

Page 17



- 8 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

task ahead of it with regard to housing individuals, and that 
there was a great risk that this could prove overwhelming.  It 
was important therefore to put a greater emphasis on 
prevention or early intervention.  The cost to, and suffering of 
individuals was of great concern. 

o Officers agreed that housing was currently a 
significant risk area for the Council, which it had to 
get right.  Homelessness was very much a reactive 
service – predictions could be made, and trends 
analysed, and this information was useful to the 
service however, situations such as the current 
Covid pandemic and the problems that it was 
causing could not have been forseen.  
Homelessness would always inevitably cause huge 
challenges - the service had moved forward and 
would need to continue to do so at some pace. 

 

 Would the flow of properties becoming available to the Council 
keep pace with the volume of people requiring it, or did the 
Authority need to be more innovative in its approach to 
providing the most needed type of property? 

o Officers stated that the challenge with regard to 
supply was that for certain parts of the South 
Holland area, rents were relatively high (although 
they could seem low in comparison to other areas of 
the country) and therefore access to the private 
sector was not always possible for people seeking 
homelessness assistance.  As a social housing 
provider in the area, the Authority could help by 
increasing the flow of rented properties, thus 
regulating rents.  The level of housing need 
compared to the level of housing supply were often 
far apart, and it was important therefore to maximise 
all opportunities.  It was vital to have homes across 
all tenures, and the Authority therefore needed to 
engage with the private sector, to be an enabler as 
well as a delivery partner.  It was also important to 
assist home owners, although it was not always 
possible to know how many were in difficulties.  
Supply would be a challenge as the number of 
affordable social homes that needed to be built was 
unaffordable.  It was important therefore to have 
access to the greatest level of accommodation 
possible and to look at different ways of assisting 
those in need.  Officers intended to fully address the 
difficulties around the supply of homes, to make the 
most of every opportunity that came forward, and 

Page 18



- 9 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

would explore different opportunities to address 
these difficulties.  

 

 Who had control of the allocation of affordable houses, when 
they became available? In the past, some houses had gone 
into the private sector for private letting and now the priority 
was for urgent cases around social housing. 

o Any new build properties that were built by the 
Council were allocated in line with the allocation 
policy i.e. those in the greatest need.  With regard to 
the new Allocations Policy, officers would be 
recommending that schemes over a certain 
allocation would be of a mixed band allocation, and 
therefore not allocated solely to those in a higher 
band.  It was hoped that this would create more 
balanced and sustainable communities.  With regard 
to negotiating nomination agreements, most 
schemes would have 100% nomination rights to the 
first allocation.  Having a nominations policy that 
made it easier for registered providers to approach 
the Authority for individuals from its own list, rather 
than identifying tenants elsewhere, was a better 
position to be in.   

 

 The Housing IT systems were becoming more updated and 
integrated however, improvement had been promised some 
time ago.  Was there a timetable for when these 
improvements would take place?  These improvements were 
needed now, not in the future. 

o The build was well underway for My Options and 
Housing Online. The switch on date was currently 
scheduled for January however, this was subject to 
testing, and was dependent on making sure that the 
system worked and that the customer service 
element for the user was satisfactory.  The desire 
was to switch over to using the Northgate system 
early in 2021, and many of the elements of this have 
been brought on line.  For operational reasons, the 
system had been set up first for the private sector 
housing team.  Officers understood members’ 
frustrations with IT upgrades taking longer than 
anticipated however, this upgrade would ultimately 
bring significant improvements.   

 

 Members commented that those involved in addressing the 
problems around housing needed members’ great thanks and 
support, but it was important that in the future, there was more 

Page 19



- 10 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

lateral thinking to address these issues. 
 

 Officers had stated that there was a postponement on 
evictions, and that the courts would consider these in priority 
order when they re-opened – what were the criteria with 
regard to prioritisation? 

o Any action relating to rent arrears only was 
prioritised on the level of debt, and other 
applications were prioritised dependent upon their 
nature.  Some emergency action had been taken, 
listings had been secured for emergency injunctions 
and gas injunctions, but this had not been possible 
for possession claims.  Private sector landlords 
were all suffering similar delays and the authority 
continued to liaise with solicitors and the local court 
user groups.  Consideration needed to be given to 
the private sector as some private landlords were 
suffering significant hardship themselves - it was 
possible that the delays could ultimately result in a 
reduction in the number of private sector homes 
offered in the future.  The court situation was not 
currently causing any operational problems for the 
Authority, as income collection was being sustained. 

 

 The rough sleeping aspect of homelessness was the most 
visible.  Significant efforts were being made to address this 
however, for many individuals, homelessness could be only 
one of a number of issues to be addressed.  What was the 
relationship between the Authority and other bodies that could 
be involved in assisting these individuals in a variety of ways? 

o There were many challenges involved in engaging 
some individuals in mainstream services. One of the 
reasons for the level of resources within the Change 
for Lincs project was to recognise this fact, and one 
of the posts was for the provision of a nurse to work 
with, and to support these individuals to provide 
immediate care.  Other projects would involve 
mental health professionals but there was some 
evidence to indicate that addressing physical health 
symptoms in the first instance assisted in future 
engagement with individuals to discuss other 
problems. The aim was to take help and services 
out to those in need, so they could be assisted there 
and then.  Communication and engagement with 
other partners was a work in progress.  There were 
a number of demands on the various agencies and 
some work needed to be done with regard to 

Page 20



- 11 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

engaging with all these agencies.  However, 
Lincolnshire authorities were well connected through 
involvement with the Housing Health and Care 
Delivery Group and the District Housing Network 
was also well attended.  Projects were being 
brought on by the District Council and it was 
important that the link between the Authority and 
other partners was built up to ensure that people 
were connected with the services they needed. 

 

 It was clear that with regard to voids, properties could not be 
built fast enough in relation to the problems that abounded.  In 
the long term, what was the situation with hard to let flats?  It 
was important to look at stock and how it could be used better.  
It was also important to work in partnership with other 
organisations such as housing associations and the private 
sector, and for results to come out of this. 

o Officers stated that the Authority held in its stock 
some flats that were hard to let studio flats.  These 
were one of the biggest problems, so the voids 
standards on these had been increased to make 
them more attractive.  The Authority had also written 
to all tenants over 70 asking them to move to one of 
these properties, should they wish and although 
there had not been a large response to this, some 
positive feedback had been received.  The current 
waiting list was small, and officers were looking at 
longer term actions.  With regard to the private 
sector, it was important for the Authority to work in 
partnership with this sector and to engage with 
landlords to assist as an enabler.  It was vitally 
important that there was no downturn in this level of 
accommodation.    

 

 With regard to the snapshot data provided in the presentation, 
how did SHDC compare with neighbouring Councils that it was 
partnered with? 

o The South Holland area was the highest however, 
this was a snapshot and not necessarily 
representative of the overall situation.  The 
partnership had taken place to provide a stronger 
response. Some surrounding areas such as Boston, 
the City of Lincoln and coastal areas had a 
significant imbalance of rough sleepers in regard to 
the size of their districts.  In 2018/19, SHDC saw a 
steep rise but although figures were the highest 
among the partners, they were not the highest in 

Page 21



- 12 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

Lincolnshire.  Data around unemployment was not 
available for all districts in the area however, there 
was a document from the DWP which provided 
more detail. 

 

 Was there any delay in dealing with general applicants on the 
waiting list? In general, how long did homeless people have to 
wait to be housed, and were they given any priority over 
individuals already on the waiting list? 

o With regard to the housing register, there was no 
significant backlog in applications.  For those 
customers approaching the Authority as homeless, 
or in need of advice or assistance, there were some 
delays but not if they were eligible to be included on 
the housing list.  With regard to allocations where a 
number of properties became available, a match list 
from the housing system would be undertaken to 
identify those in most need and they would be 
offered housing accordingly, should the housing be 
suitable for their needs.  Reserve nominations would 
also be identified.  For smaller, rural areas, 
applicants would sometimes be contacted to ask 
them to widen their areas of preference.  Individuals 
in most need would be placed in a higher band on 
the list and priority would then fall on those that had 
been on the list the longest.  With regard to 
homeless applicants, where they were joining the 
housing register as a result of being threatened with 
homelessness, they were allowed a choice of areas.  
If they were eligible through a duty of care by the 
Council because they were homeless, one 
reasonable offer of accommodation within the 
district would be made.  The roles of Housing First 
Responders had been created to assist the user in a 
quicker way.   

  

 Did the Authority work with any other partners or any other 
homeless charities? 

o The Authority worked with other providers in the 
district, other charities and domestic abuse charities.  
It always looked at how best to use its stock to 
create flexibility.       

 

 Members agreed that if was important that, where individuals 
had found themselves in difficulties, or had any concerns, that 
it was important for them to speak to the Authority at an earlier 
stage, before it became a bigger problem. Could work be 

Page 22



- 13 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

undertaken with Parish Councils in order to liaise on a more 
local level with people?  Could members do more? 

o Members could help officers to understand how 
services could be shaped in order to address 
aspirations, and meetings such as this one were 
useful.  There were a number of opportunities in 
relation to stock and services.  Not everything could 
be achieved, but there needed to be a broad 
understanding of the key deliverables, bringing into 
focus priorities that could deliver aspirations.  
Officers often saw individuals at crisis point, and the 
work being done, as discussed during the meeting, 
could assist in improving this.   

 
Members thanked the officer for the detailed presentation, and 
also wished to thank him and his team for the work they were 
currently undertaking. 

   

5. TOWN CENTRE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME   

  

 The Interim Director and the Executive Manager Growth provided 
the Panel with a presentation on the Town Centre Improvement 
Plan (TCIP), and how this would affect the towns of Spalding and 
Holbeach.  The presentation included information on the 
following: 
 
Background to the Town Centre Improvement Plan  
Council had considered a report on 27 November 2019, 
concerning support for town centres, and the following had been 
agreed: 

 A remit to develop an improvement plan for both Spalding and 
Holbeach. The TCIP was a programme of activity to support 
town centres, rather than a wholescale regeneration 
programme; 

 Approval of a £500,000 budget, spread across three years, to 
support the programme.  Funding to go to delivery projects 
directly, but also to support wider initiatives and make the case 
for further funding; 

 Creation of a new Town Centre Improvement Co-ordinator 
role; 

 Establishment of a partnership governance structure for the 
TCIP work; 

 Acceptance of government funding to progress a business 
case for capital investment into Holbeach town centre. 

 
Spalding TCIP – activity so far 

 A successful launch event was undertaken in February 2020 

 

Page 23



- 14 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

with over 50 partners.  This was used as a forum to bring 
partners into the project and share ideas.  A number of short, 
medium and long term themes were identified by partners – 
Identity/Brand; Town Centre Living; Digital; Business and 
Enterprise; Making the town clean, safe and vibrant; Access 
and transport; and Culture and leisure offering.  A small 
number of attendees were invited to form the Spalding TCIP 
Steering Group. 

 In March 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic and national lockdown 
commenced:   

o This had had a huge immediate impact on all town 
centres with a 12 week period of retail closure.  Cultural 
venues such as the South Holland Centre still remained 
closed; 

o This had brought about a fundamental shift in 
immediate priorities during Spring/Summer for both 
SHDC and its Steering Group partners; 

o £18.4million in grants had been allocated to businesses 
across the district; 

o The TCIP co-ordinator had commenced her role in May 
2020, with an immediate focus on the safe reopening of 
the town centres, rather than undertaking TCIP work; 

o Covid had accelerated a number of trends that created 
challenges for town centres. 

 
Spalding TCIP - Current activity 

 Detailed work around devising the Town Centre Improvement 
Programme had re-commenced.  The Steering Group had 
been established, with 22 partners.  Initial engagement was 
very positive.  A long list of project proposals for the 
programme, led by partners involved, was being developed, 
with themes around – Improving appeal (street scene, untidy 
areas, aesthetics, sense of safety); Travel and accessibility 
(bus connectivity, car parking incentives); Covid-safe events 
and activities (heritage, arts, Christmas trails); Enhancing and 
diversifying the market; and Business and economy (business 
incubation, digital infrastructure). 

 The TCIP Co-ordinator was taking forward various other 
activities, including a town centre user survey and prioritisation 
of projects within the programme. 

 Covid challenges persisted, with the planned November and 
December events programme, funded by the TCIP, affected 
by the second lockdown. 

 
Principles underpinning the Town Centre Improvement 
Programme 

 The focus was on developing a two stage programme: 

Page 24



- 15 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

o Short to medium term projects, with the focus on getting 
the basics right, to encourage the use of the town 
centre by local residents; 

o Medium to longer-term ideas and projects that might 
deliver longer term change e.g. a business incubator 
space. 

 Joint buy-in and accountability amongst stakeholders for the 
creation of and delivery of the programme was essential.  It 
was for everybody, and not just the Council, to deliver the 
plan; 

 It was important to develop a plan that used the resources of 
others, not only those of the Council; 

 There was an expectation that the Steering Group members 
would bring their time, capacity and connection to help the 
Council to deliver;  

 The TCIP would provide the basis for developing future 
external funding requests and the potential use of Springfields 
S106 monies. 

 
Town Centre Improvement Plan – Holbeach 

 The approach to the Holbeach TCIP was different to Spalding.  
In August 2019, Holbeach had been invited to submit a full 
business case for capital funding under the Government’s 
Future High Street Fund.  A business case had been 
submitted in July 2020 seeking approximately £5million in 
capital funding to support capital investment in three major 
projects: 

o Creation of a new mixed use development at Chequers 
Yard, Holbeach; 

o Highway configuration work to address traffic 
challenges at the Market Hill junction; 

o Investment in a cycle network to improve accessibility 
to the town centre. 

 The TCIP budget had been used to support the business case 
to government, with a full time project manager, funded by 
government to develop the business case.  The outcome of 
the funding application was expected this winter, with the 
outcome of the application shaping the focus of the TCIP for 
Holbeach. 

 
Upcoming activity and next steps 
For Spalding: 

 The focus was on prioritisation and sequencing of a shortlist of 
projects that would form the immediate TCIP for Spalding; 

 Some ‘quick win’ projects for 2021 were to be identified; 

 There would be a continued building of the partnership 
involved in delivery, with the Steering Group meeting again in 

Page 25



- 16 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

the next week; 

 The town centre user survey would seek resident views to 
inform the TCIP; 

 The monitoring of key town centre buildings and engagement 
with businesses would continue; 

 External funding opportunities would be monitored. 
For Holbeach: 

 Preparatory work for the Future High Streets fund projects 
would continue, whilst the outcome from government was 
awaited; 

 TCIP planning for Holbeach would be re-engaged in early 
2021 

All of the proposed activities for Spalding and Holbeach had to be 
balanced with the challenges of Covid-19. 
 
Panel members were invited to provide their views, thoughts and 
perspective. 
 

 The towns of Holbeach and Spalding needed improvements.  
One of the main concerns from businesses currently was that 
while small shops had to remain shut as a result of the 
lockdown, supermarkets and larger stores could stay open.  

 

 The schemes only related to Spalding and Holbeach – would 
the scheme be extended to other towns in the district in due 
course? 

o It was recognised that many towns within the district 
required help, and the debate at the meeting of 
Council where the TCIP had first been considered 
had borne this out.  It was important that the 
principles of the work to be undertaken were tested - 
if these were successful, they would be extended 
further to other towns.  It was essential to get the 
fundamentals right in Spalding and Holbeach, and 
the most successful elements could then be rolled 
out further.  

 

 A current priority for many businesses was when the next 
tranche of grants would become available – many business 
owners were in need of these funds. 

o The next set of grants were to be released the next 
day and would support many of the district’s 
retailers. It was a banded scheme where the amount 
of grant awarded was in relation to rateable value. A 
lot of background work was being undertaken to 
prepare for the administration of the grants. Details 
of how businesses could apply would be shared with 

Page 26



- 17 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

members and with businesses that had already 
approached the Authority. 

 

 A lot of good initiatives were being undertaken by the 
Communities team – which budget was being used to fund 
this? 

o The Nutcracker project was being funded through 
the Communities budget. 

 

 How much of the £500,000 budget had been spent so far? 
o The Town Centre Improvement Plan Co-ordinator 

role was funded from the budget.  With regard to 
Holbeach, a report that had been considered by 
Cabinet in June committed a five figure sum out of 
the Town Centre Improvement Plan budget to 
support the work around the Holbeach Future High 
Streets fund bid.  With regard to the Spalding spend, 
this was still a relatively small amount, in the region 
of £5,000 – the low spend was as a result of the 
postponement until next year of the majority of 
events that had been planned.  

 

 Improvements to the Holbeach public toilets had been 
promised – when would this be starting? 

o Prior to the Covid outbreak, this was being 
addressed.  The renovation of the toilets had been 
included in the Holbeach bid and it was necessary 
to await the outcome of this before committing 
further funds to this project.  With regard to toilets on 
a wider scale, the scrutiny Task Group looking into 
this had undertaken a robust piece of work, and this 
had now been recommissioned with a view to 
moving forward. 

 

 Councillor Carter commented that as a Holbeach councillor, 
she had not yet met the new Town Centre Improvement Plan 
Coordinator. 

o Officers stated that this would be arranged. 
 

 Were there any stakeholder contributions or external funding 
for any of the schemes? 

o Officers advised that this was not currently the case 
however, this was to be discussed at the next 
meeting with stakeholders who would be asked how 
they could contribute to the delivery of the plan in 
relation to time, resources, connections and money.  

 

Page 27



- 18 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

 Members were very interested in what happened to Spalding.  
It seemed that the Authority had been slow in realising that 
efforts needed to be made with the town.  Issues such as 
cleanliness of the area, and public toilet provision were a real 
issue and the basics needed to be done well. Spalding needed 
an identity, it needed a better ambiance and people needed a 
reason to go there.  It had some good features and more 
needed to be made of these.  Consideration needed to be 
given to the market, which was important to the town.  
Enforcement of parking was an issue, as was the pedestrian 
aspect of the town – if this was not enforced or there was a 
need for the public to use their cars in the centre of the town, 
should this be addressed?  Conversion of buildings in the town 
centre should be considered.  Transport issues caused by the 
railway were an ongoing problem.  Could the South Holland 
Centre be used for a different purpose whilst being closed 
because of lockdown?  There were many ideas that needed to 
be considered.  

o Officers advised that many of these points were 
included in the improvement plan.  Getting the 
basics right was at the root of a successful project.  
Members were also advised that a gentleman from 
the Princes Trust had visited the town a few months 
ago and had commented that the river was a very 
positive feature within the town - it was felt that the 
river should be used as a focus for many of the 
plans going forward. 

 

 Town regeneration did not affect only Spalding and Holbeach 
– this was a national issue, with much information available 
online – benchmarking against other towns was important, and 
existing information and the successes of others could be 
used. 

o This was an improvement plan rather than a 
regeneration however, it was agreed that there was 
much information that could be used.  Getting the 
fundamentals right could contribute to large 
successes. 

 

 Had there been any discussions with towns of similar sizes to 
learn what they had done? 

o The Town Centre Improvement Plan Coordinator 
had undertaken much of this research already, and 
had also attended a number of events through the 
District Councils network and the Local Government 
Association.  Many people were happy to share 
information and intelligence.  The Authority also 

Page 28



- 19 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

worked together with district neighbours.   
 

 Members requested that with regard to Holbeach, the Parish 
Council be involved in discussions. 

o If the funding bid was successful, there would be 
much work to be undertaken and this would be done 
with partners. 

 

 Members suggested that wider paths for alfresco dining and 
better cycle routes would be beneficial. 

o Officers advised that an officer from the Highways 
Department at Lincolnshire County Council sat on 
the Steering Group – this was a great opportunity to 
work together to ensure that some of the projects 
could come to fruition.  A small amount of funding 
was available to encourage cycle routes, and routes 
connecting the town to other areas such as 
Springfields, to make access easier were to be 
encouraged.  As a result of the Covid pandemic, 
there was now more alfresco dining, and some of 
the rules and regulations around this had been 
relaxed to make this easier.  This could be used as 
an opportunity. 

 

 How much of the Springfields S106 monies were still 
available, and had these yet been allocated?  

o There were two amounts of S106 funding.  There 
was a small amount remaining from the original 
development, which had been used for a number of 
years to support Christmas events in the town.  
Officers would confirm with members what the 
remaining balance was. 

 

 Many businesses were leaving towns – what encouragement 
could be given to them to return. 

o This was a difficult issue.  Officers confirmed that, 
as a result of the Covid pandemic, businesses were 
in receipt of a business rate holiday.  The Authority 
was working closely with businesses to understand 
their needs, and although there wasn’t a suite of 
options available for every business, where a 
business had a particular problem, the Authority 
would work with them to try and resolve it.  More 
funding was also coming from Government as part 
of the Covid response – this consisted of a lump 
sum of cash over the next 18 months to assist any 
business within the Authority’s economy.  A policy 

Page 29



- 20 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

would be developed to understand how this could 
be used to support businesses, including town 
centre businesses. 

 

 The Portfolio Holder for Commercialisation and Growth 
thanked the officers for their presentation.  He stated that it 
was not currently ‘business as usual’ – much time was being 
devoted to supporting businesses through the administration 
of grants.  However, efforts to work with the Steering Group on 
this project still needed to proceed.  The key point was 
partnerships - it was encouraging that this was not just a 
Council initiative, and that town businesses also needed to be 
on board.  A survey was being undertaken – it was important 
to find out from this what the public wanted and did not want, 
to listen to this, and to give them confidence in using the 
towns.  Some good points had been made by Panel members.  
It was important to consider how the town could attract people 
into them, and also to attract independent retailers.        

 

 Members commented that the recent Springfields application 
had a £200,000 S106 fund attached to it which could assist 
with the Town Centre Improvement Plan. 

 

 Many good points had been raised during the meeting and 
those working with the Steering Group should take these on 
board. In particular, officers should be thanked for the help 
they provided to market traders and small businesses, 
particularly with regard to the administration of grants.  It was 
very important to keep small businesses going and to support 
them. 

 

 With regard to Holbeach, much was reliant on a successful 
outcome to the bid – was there a Plan B? 

o The business case had highlighted a number of 
issues to be resolved.  If unsuccessful, the Town 
Centre Improvement Plan would need to be looked 
at again however, the key principle would always be 
to work with local businesses and stakeholder. 

 
Members thanked the officers for the clear and detailed 
presentation. 

   

6. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

Page 30



- 21 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 17 November 2020 

 

 

 

 
(The meeting ended at 9.30 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



- 22 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in line with the Local Authorities & Police & 
Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel 
Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on Thursday, 21 January 2021 at 
6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
B Alcock (Chairman) 

 
 

 

J R Astill 
J Avery 
A C Beal 
F Biggadike 
M D Booth 
C J T H Brewis 
T A Carter 
 

A C Cronin 
R A Gibson 
M Hasan 
J L King 
J D McLean 
N H Pepper 
P A Redgate 
 

G T D Rudkin 
G P Scalese 
A C Tennant 
J Tyrrell 
S C Walsh 
D J Wilkinson 
A R Woolf 
 

 

In Attendance: The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategy and Partnerships, the Place 
Manager, the Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager, the Strategic Finance 
Manager, the Interim Director (Acting), the Housing Landlord Services Manager, the 
Democratic Services Trainee and the Democratic Services Officer. 
 
 
 
 Action By 

7. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN   

  

 Councillor B Alcock was elected as Chairman for the duration of 
this meeting. 

 

   

8. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

  

 There were none.  

   

9. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

  

 There were none.  

   

10. DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL 
 STRATEGY (SCRUTINY)  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) 
which asked the Joint Panel to consider and scrutinise the Draft 
General Fund and Housing Revenue Account 2021/22 revenue 
and capital estimates and the Draft Financial Medium Term 
Strategy. 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 2.c)



- 23 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 21 January 2021 

 

 

 

 
The Joint Panel received a presentation from the Strategic 
Finance and Compliance Manager which outlined the following 
areas: 
 

 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

 General Fund Revenue & Capital 

 Council Tax levels 

 HRA Revenue & Capital 

 Reserves 
 
The Joint Panel were informed that the Treasury Management 
Policy was considered outside of the report by the Governance 
and Audit Committee on 14th January 2021 and would be 
presented to Cabinet as part of the final Budget paper. 
 
Following consideration of the report and the presentation, the 
following issues were raised: 
 
o Members highlighted the risks and uncertainties around 

whether the powers stations were rated or un-rated, and 
whether one of them would be coming on stream to pay 
business rates. The Strategic Finance and Compliance 
Manager informed the Panel that the uncertainty was around 
the Long Sutton power station and what the future operating of 
the station would be.  Conversations were being held with the 
Administrators. 

 
o Members asked, for the interest payments of the loan given by 

the Government to purchase council housing stock, and what 
percentage of the Housing Revenue Account expenditure that 
represented for 2021/22?  The Strategic Finance and 
Compliance Manager confirmed that the interest on the 
Housing Revenue expenditure was £2,348,000 and the 
proportion it represented for 2021/22 was 19%. 

 
o Was the Sutton Bridge power station currently paying 

business rates? The Strategic Finance and Compliance 
Manager would refer back to the team and inform the Panel 
after the meeting. 
 

o Was the new Spalding power station paying business rates?  
The power station extension had now been added to the rating 
list and backdated to July 2019. The team were in the process 
of administering Business Rate bills. 
 

o Members asked, with regards to the Capital Programme, were 

Page 34



- 24 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 21 January 2021 

 

 

 

the amounts allocated to Assets and Property (Priory Road 
projects) necessary?  The Capital programme items were 
being reviewed.  Some work e.g air conditioning installation 
was being carried out while other projects were currently being 
assessed.   
 

o Members enquired why the Moulton Park project had not been 
added to the Budget? The Interim Director informed the Panel 
that Moulton Park was not currently at a position to be added 
into the budget and a workable, sustainable solution was 
being looked at with Moulton Park being a self-funded asset at 
no cost to the public purse. 
 

o Members asked why the £7k roofs budget for the Industrial 
units at Sutton Bridge had been removed from the Capital 
budget?  The Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager 
stated that £100k was approved for this in the previous year 
which was still committed to the scheme, with £7k listed for 
2020/21 and £93k for 2021/22. 
 

o Was a reduction anticipated in the funding provided by the 
Government?  The Strategic Finance and Compliance 
Manager informed the Panel that there was not enough 
intelligence at this time to understand whether this would be 
the case as the new methodology had not been developed 
and was still under consultation. 
 

o Members enquired whether the additional £4k included in the 
Spalding Special Expenses 21/22 budget related to Spalding 
Cemetary?  The Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager 
informed the Panel that the £4k was to cover any increased 
revenue running costs for all services within Spalding Special 
Expenses.  The Interim Director also informed the Panel that a 
working group which included Councillors Grocock, Coupland 
and Sneath, had been set up to look at the expenditure 
needed on the Cemetery.   
 

o Members queried Leisure Facilities Business rates were not 
anticipated during negotiations for the new contract?  The 
Place Manager informed the Panel that this was a contractual 
issue that was being discussed with the current Contractor.  
The Place Manager would provide an update to the Panel at a 
later date in terms of the progression of the matter. 
 

o With regards to rates payable as a result of the siting of 
markets, had any work been carried out to look at whether the 
rates could be exempt? The Place Manager informed the 

Page 35



- 25 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 21 January 2021 

 

 

 

Panel that due to the changes with Covid, business rates on 
the market had been paused  as the Council were no longer 
putting up market stalls and traders were doing this 
themselves.   
 

o Had any additional funding been added for fly tipping?  The 
Place Manager informed the Panel that at December 2020, 
there had been a rise in the incidence of fly tipping of 180%. 
The Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager would 
forward the financial information to Councillor Tyrrell after the 
meeting. 

 
o With the Drainage Boards being under pressure, due to the 

increased rainfall in recent months, had any additional 
assistance been included within the budget to assist?  The 
Portfolio Holder for Finance informed the Panel that, like the 
Council, the Drainage Boards ran reserves for use when 
required.  The amount of money paid to the four Drainage 
Boards this year was more than half the amount of Council 
Tax collected.  Both the Council and landowners contributes 
towards the IDBs (45% and 55% respectively). The Authority 
met each year with the Drainage Boards to agree upon the 
levy to be charged.  It was stated that the service provided by 
the Drainage Board was good value for money.  It was stated 
that a review of the way in which the monies were levied was 
required, and members would be pursuing this.  
 

o Members requested an update on the ICT programmes for a 
future Performance Monitoring Panel meeting to look at the 
infrastructure and costs associated with the Digital strategy. 
 

o Members asked whether there was a risk in losing receipts in 
relation to Right To Buy? How did we ensure that in 
purchasing housing stock SHDC received value for money?  
The Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager informed the 
Panel that there were time constraints attached to Right to Buy 
receipts. but there had been an extension due to the Covid 
situation, and this was being monitored.    The Housing 
Landlord Services Manager informed the Panel that in relation 
to the purchase of Housing stock, a thorough appraisal 
process  would be undertaken in assessing the schemes, 
which would look at a number of key components before 
approval of the purchase to ensure value for money. 
 

o Members asked whether the reduction in Land Charges 
income was due to private enterprises offering the land 
charges searches at reduced rates and if so, what could be 

Page 36



- 26 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 21 January 2021 

 

 

 

done to counteract this?  The Strategic Finance and 
Compliance Manager informed the Panel that the reduced 
income was not due to private enterprises offering the service 
at a lower price, rather that part of the service was free, and 
that individuals could choose to undertake the search 
themselves.  Therefore, a change in demand for the service 
had led to the income reduction. 

 
AGREED: 
 
a) That the report be noted; and 
 
b) That the Cabinet should consider the following issues going 

forward: 
 

 Revenue Estimates for the General Fund, Housing 
Revenue Account 2021/22, as set out in Appendices A, 
B and C; 

 Reserves position 2021/22 to 2024/24 as set out in 
Appendix D; 

 Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2024/25 as set out in 
Appendix E; 

 Capital Strategy as set out in Appendix F; 

 Fees and Charges Schedule as set out in Appendix G. 
   

11. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

 
(The meeting ended at 7.34 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



- 27 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in line with the Local Authorities & Police & 
Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel 
Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on Tuesday, 9 February 2021 at 
6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
 
 

 

B Alcock 
J R Astill 
J Avery 
A C Beal 
F Biggadike 
M D Booth 
C J T H Brewis 
T A Carter 
 

A C Cronin 
R A Gibson 
M Hasan 
J L King 
J D McLean 
N H Pepper 
P A Redgate 
G T D Rudkin 
 

G P Scalese 
S-A Slade 
A C Tennant 
J Tyrrell 
S C Walsh 
D J Wilkinson 
A R Woolf 
 

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J L Reynolds  
 
In Attendance:  Councillor A M Newton, the Head of Paid Service and Strategic 
Advisor, the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), the Executive Manager - 
Governance, the Democratic Services Manager and the Democratic Services Team 
Leader. 
 
 
 
 Action By 

12. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN   

  

 Councillor Alcock was elected chairman for the duration of the 
meeting. 

 

   

13. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

  

 There were no declarations of interest.  

   

14. INTEGRATED SHARED MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE AND 
 JOINT WORKING ARRANGEMENTS REVIEW - PREFERRED 
 OPTION FOR BRECKLAND AND SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT 
 COUNCILS  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Paid Service 
and Strategic Advisor which set out the recommendations from 
Stage One of the Review of the future of the Integrated Shared 
Management Structure and Joint Working Arrangements between 
Breckland and South Holland District Councils. 
 
The Head of Paid Service and Strategic Advisor provided 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 2.d)



- 28 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

members with an overview of the report’s content.  Members were 
then provided the opportunity to feed back, and the following 
issues were raised: 
 

 As many staff and members were currently working remotely, 
could the Authority consider the option of a partnership with 
another authority further afield, given the advantages and 
efficiencies of working remotely? 

o Officers responded that there were clearly strong 
arguments for being in partnership with another 
organisation however, as the difficulties in 
responding to the Covid pandemic for the two 
authorities across different counties had 
demonstrated, if the partnership was not relatively 
local, it made the partnership less meaningful.  
However, as a result of having to work differently, 
there had been additional learning that could be 
taken forward. 

 Members responded that with regard to remote working, it was 
important to evaluate how the current arrangements had 
worked, and to learn from both the negative and positive 
aspects of this, should this way of working continue. 

 

 Members felt that it was not clear where the figures quoted 
within the report had come from.  It was felt that it was 
weighted towards the preferred option, with not much 
background – how had the weightings been arrived at?  How 
could the Authority measure its ambitions within a new 
partnership when the type of partnership was not yet known? 

o Officers stated that there had been a lot of work 
undertaken that supported the report, and this 
process was explained. Initially, an appraisal had 
been undertaken by the Directors individually within 
both organisations, which had then been considered 
by them, together with the Head of Paid Service and 
Strategic Adviser, to compare and contrast the 
information and to provide some substance.  Each 
option had been ranked against criteria, as either 
high, medium or low, and these had then been 
converted to the final scoring of 3, 2 ,1.  This 
information has been brought together with political 
weighting, initially undertaken separately by the 
Cabinets at each authority, with an agreed political 
weighting and consensus then being arrived at 
during a joint meeting of both. The purpose had not 
been to assess a particular partnership or stand-
alone model, rather to evidence what was required, 

Page 40



- 29 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

and what it would be expected to deliver.  This was 
done by looking at what had already been achieved 
by the current shared arrangements, case study 
information from across local government, and the 
organisations’ aspirations with regard to taking the 
preferred option forward.  With regard to the quantity 
of data currently available, this could not be 
elaborated upon until a detailed business case 
stage was arrived at.  At the current stage therefore, 
the report could only include assumptions of what 
could be achieved, to take forward to any future 
proposed partners. In summary, what was laid out 
within the report reflected what was achievable with 
having a partnership that was closer to home, based 
on case studies and the authorities’ own 
experiences of working together. There was 
currently no business case for what was set out 
within the report however, the recommendations 
within the report were to explore the option at this 
stage, not to implement.  The expectation when 
negotiating a new partnership would therefore be, to 
lay out the criteria, that it was believed that this was 
the right option for South Holland going forward, and 
that any preferred partners would be expected to 
deliver to this level of aspiration. 

 

 Members asked why there was not more of a marked 
difference between a stand-alone scenario, and a new 
partnership?   

o Officers advised that many of the areas to be 
achieved could be done as either a stand-alone 
authority, or as a new partnership.  However, a local 
strategic partnership would provide extra capacity 
and impact to deliver the required improvements, as 
had been demonstrated by South Holland’s  
partnership with Breckland.   

 

 With regard to political weighting, why was there a difference 
between South Holland’s and Breckland’s figures? 

o Officers referenced table 6 within the report, which 
set out the weighting of the options appraisal criteria 
– the outcomes from the separate informal Cabinet 
meetings had shown that although there was a lot of 
similarity, there had been some slight differences in 
some of the weightings for each authority.  When 
each option was then scored, as seen in tables 7 
and 8 and the appendices, if it was of political 

Page 41



- 30 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

importance, it increased its score.  With regard to 
table 6, the differences between Breckland and 
South Holland’s weighting figures  reflected the 
differing priorities for each authority – not all areas 
could be high priority and choices therefore had to 
be made. The objective scores and the political 
weightings were two separate influences.  

 

 Members questioned, when considering the information within 
tables 7 and 8, and the ‘as is’ option being the last, why was it 
being proposed that the joint arrangements end?  

o Officers explained that the ‘as is’ situation had 
received a low score in the evaluation because the 
opportunities from the joint arrangements had 
largely been achieved.  In addition, it had become 
clear that issues around partnership and place could 
be stronger if the strategic partnership was within 
the same area.  The current partnership involved 
authorities in two separate counties, which would be 
involved with community partners from within their 
respective areas.  In addition, the current 
partnership was 10 years old, and opportunities 
could now be achieved in different ways, i.e. there 
were opportunities for efficiencies where authorities 
shared the same providers of some Council 
services.  Members were assured however that the 
partnership with Breckland could in no way be seen 
as a failure, and it had achieved savings of almost 
£0.75 million per year.   

 

 In response to members’ comments with regard to the low 
amounts of funding received by authorities in rural areas, the 
Head of Paid Service and Strategic Adviser commented that 
South Holland had a reputation for seizing the agenda and 
making it its own, as borne out by its successful partnership 
with Breckland Council.  Until such time as increased funding 
may occur, the authority had the opportunity to move forward 
and gain greater opportunities for its local community by 
working together with closer neighbours. 

 

 At what point would the relationship between South Holland 
and Breckland be severed, and what would be the cost to 
South Holland if a new local partnership was not entered into 
immediately? 

o When the partnership was established in 2010, the 
Memorandum of Agreement had set out a number 
of responsibilities each authority would have to each 

Page 42



- 31 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

other if the partnership were to end.  The 
timeframes set out for a termination clause to be 
activated, followed by a period of 6 months.  It did 
not, and could not have specified the situation with 
regard to what to do next as an individual 
organisation.  The reasons for including some 
flexibility in the recommendations was to 
accommodate the situation where the process was 
able to move at a faster pace, and thus to bring the 
time frame forward.  However, as it stood, the 
Memorandum of Association laid out that the 
separation would take place six months from the 
date of decision.  This flexibility gave the opportunity 
for both authorities to support each other in a mutual 
fashion, with the under-pinning of the existing 
relationship in place until it was no longer required.  

o With regard to any new, future partnerships, it was 
important to signal serious intent by ensuring that 
the previous partnership was ending by activating 
the termination clause.  

o In relation to structure and costings (these were 
subject to a decision being taken regarding 
appointment of a Chief Executive – currently a Chief 
Executive had not been appointed until the situation 
was clearer), all costs were within budget provision. 
With regard to the cost in the interim, these were 
being worked on but would not cost more than the 
current cost for South Holland.  The only difference 
would be if the decision was made to appoint a 
stand-alone Chief Executive.  In relation to existing 
systems and contracts, these would be continued 
with both organisations through agreement in the 
Memorandum of  Association, until they could be 
taken in a new partnership by one of the authorities, 
or the contracts came to a natural end.     

 

 Members had concerns with regard to future joint working with 
local authorities.  Previous attempts to enter joint 
arrangements with local authorities, and more recently the 
Devolution agenda, had not been successful – had 
relationships improved? 

o The Head of Paid Service and Strategic Adviser 
commented that he was not familiar with any legacy 
issues. However, he stated that the local 
government landscape had changed dramatically.  
Financial challenges were great, necessitating the 
need for authorities to work together to be more 

Page 43



- 32 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

efficient.  In addition, opportunities had to be taken 
with regard to the Devolution agenda - district 
councils had to make their case as part of local 
government reorganisation, and based on 
geography within the area, single organisations 
would not meet MHCLG’s criteria for population 
size.  There was therefore now more pressure, and 
a greater appetite for authorities to find different 
ways of working, in a meaningful way. 

 

 There were concerns regarding the overall cost to the 
Authority, as, dependent on which authority officers chose to 
work with, it was likely that there would be some vacancies.  
Vacancies (in the short term) and workloads had to be 
covered.  In addition, part of the role of the Chief Executive 
had to be covered.  Members were sceptical that these issues 
could be contained within the existing budget, and that the 
workload involved in entering another partnership could be 
dealt with. 

o Officers responded that within the termination 
clause, there was a fair and reasonable approach to 
how joint staff (47 across both authorities) would be 
allocated.  It was important that both organisations 
were capable of running their services effectively.  
Informal engagement with staff was being 
undertaken where they could indicate their 
preference of authority, and this information was 
being considered against an interim structure.  
There was a high degree of correlation between the 
posts on offer at South Holland, and the number of 
staff who would want to work there.  However, the 
formal consultation process was not yet finished, but 
it was hoped that at implementation stage, there 
would not be a high number of vacancies. 

 Members responded that issues such as the potential loss of 
some skills that were available within the current partnership 
were a concern.  In addition, leaving the partnership with 
Breckland could be the first in a three stage process, to be 
followed by the search for a new local partner and then 
potentially devolution in the future. These were all large and 
difficult situations to manage in a period where staffing was 
stretched and there were concerns regarding capacity.  These 
processes required a high degree of expertise to manage, 
potentially over a number of years, and in addition to 
managing the high workloads involved in the day to day 
running of the authority. 

o Officers responded that the challenges and staff 

Page 44



- 33 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

capacity were recognised by both organisations, 
and there would be additional resources to support 
the ambition.  Some capacity could be brought in 
but this would not satisfy all areas.  Making 
decisions for the future at an early stage would put 
the authority at the forefront, and put it in control of 
the way forward.  In addition, undertaking the 
various hurdles ahead in stages would make the 
process more manageable and put the authority in 
the best possible situation for future changes. 

 

 Members asked whether the report being presented was a 
fait-accompli? 

o The Head of Paid Service and Strategic Advisor 
confirmed that he had been brought into the 
organisation as an independent individual, with no 
pre- determined view of the options being 
presented.  Both Cabinets had been clear that it was 
his role to provide an independent assessment, and 
view of the organisations’ options going forward, 
and to take both through this process.  Some 
options within the report did appear obvious, whilst 
others may not have been available at the time but 
were now. 

 

 Members questioned why the authority would wish to leave a 
relationship where savings were already being made, to enter 
another relationship that had not yet been established. 

o Officers confirmed that the savings quoted did not 
stop being available as they were included within 
the base budget.  In addition, there could be future 
savings available, that were not being made in the 
partnership currently.  With regard to ending the 
current arrangements before a new one was in 
place, officers explained that under the current 
shared management arrangements, most of the 47 
shared staff were employed by Breckland.  It was 
important for South Holland to establish their staff, 
and that with regard to future negotiations, to signal 
that the old arrangements were ending, and that 
affected staff were engaged in those discussions. 

 

 Members commented that by triggering the situation, the 
authority should not rush into another arrangement as a result, 
and be operating to another authority’s agenda.   

o Officers agreed, and pointed out that the reason for 
changes detailed at recommendation 2, to extend 

Page 45



- 34 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

the termination clause, was to assist with this 
situation.  Both organisations had to agree what was 
to the mutual benefit of the existing partnership, and 
the correct arrangement had to be in place for a new 
partner.   

 
AGREED: 
 
That, subject to the concerns raised by Panel members with 
regard to the overall cost of the process, the following 
recommendations, as detailed within the report, that had been 
supported by the Cabinet for consideration by Full Council, be 
supported: 
 
a) To approve the preferred option for the future of the integrated 

shared management structure and joint working arrangements 

between the two Councils as set out in paragraph 1.8 of this 

report; 

 
b) To activate clause 8 of the memorandum of agreement 

between Breckland District Council and South Holland District 

Council and authorise any extension or shortening of the 

timeframe set out in clause 8.6A by mutual agreement 

between the two parties, so far as may be considered 

appropriate by the Leaders, following consultation with their 

respective Cabinets;  

 
c) To approve for consultation the interim structures to support 

and enable the achievement of the preferred option for both 

Councils; and 

 
d) That subject to there being no material changes to the senior 

management structure following consultation with officers, 
delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the leader to implement the said structure.  

   

15. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

 
(The meeting ended at 7.45 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 

Page 46



 
1 

 

 

    

KEY DECISION PLAN 
 

Issued – 22 February 2021 

  

 

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to:  

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months 
 
The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.   
 
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.” 
 
Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies) 
 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 7.

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
2 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery... 
 

Acquisition of a property for the Next 
Steps Accommodation Programme 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader  
 
Before 26 Feb 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for HRA & 
Private Sector 
Housing 
 
Kitchen and 
Bathroom 
upgrade 
programme 
 

To procure a contractor for the 
installation of kitchens and bathrooms 
to the Councils housing stock 
 

 
 
 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager, or any other 
officer with delegation  
 
Before 28 Feb 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Communities 
& Facilities 
 
Daffodil Walk 
 

Improvements to the Daffodil Route 
between Pinchbeck Road and Johnson 
Hospital utilising section 106 funding to 
improve health and well being 
opportunities 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for 
Communities & Facilities, 
or Leader  
 
Before 31 Mar 2021 
 
 

P
age 48



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
3 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for HRA & 
Private Sector 
Housing 
 
Fire door and 
Compliance 
contract 
 

Fire door replacement and associated 
fire compliance works to sheltered 
schemes 
 

 
 
 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager, or any other 
officer with delegation  
 
Before 31 Mar 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for HRA & 
Private Sector 
Housing 
 
Painting and 
Repairs 
 

To procure a contractor to undertake 
painting and repairs to the Councils 
housing stock 

 

 
 
 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager, or any other 
officer with delegation  
 
Before 31 Mar 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Approval of 
Welland Homes 
dividend or 
charitable 
donation 
payment 
 

To approve a dividend or charitable 
donation by Welland Homes in 
accordance with the Company’s 
Dividend and Charitable Donation 
policy, and where a charitable donation 
is preferred, to approve the 
beneficiary(ies) of the Charitable 
Donation. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader 
 
Before 31 Mar 2021 
 

P
age 49



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
4 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for HRA & 
Private Sector 
Housing 
 
Energy efficiency 
works to council 
properties 
 

Funding has been made available to 
improve the energy efficiency to 
homes within South Holland. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager, or any other 
officer with delegation 
 
Before 31 Mar 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Acquisition 
Project to 
purchase s106 
rented units 
 

To set out details of the potential for 
the authority to acquire three s106 
homes for affordable rent tenure, on a 
development site in the district. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 27 Apr 2021, or 
Leader 
 
South Holland District 
Council 12 May 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Acquisition 
project to 
purchase 
dwellings for the 
HRA 
 

To present the business case 
associated with the purchase. 

 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 27 Apr 2021, or 
Leader 
 
South Holland District 
Council 12 May 2021 
 

P
age 50



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
5 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
 
HRA 
Development 
Framework 
 

To agree a framework for future HRA 
housing development investment 
decisions. 

 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 12 Jul 2021, or 
Leader 
 
South Holland District 
Council 28 Jul 2021 
 

 
 
 

*Cabinet Membership 

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader) 
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor P E Coupland (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor H Drury (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Grocock (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor E J Sneath (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder) 
 
 

 
If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact: 

 
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 

Telephone: 01775 764626 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 
 

P
age 51

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

SHDC Policy Register 
 
 

 
 

Rows are sorted by End Date 
 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved 
Date 

Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Note Assigned To 

Asset Management 
Strategy 

Constitutional Yes 18-Jun-2014 5 years 18-Jun-2019 Pending 
Approval 

A rewrite of the full asset management 
plan is scheduled to commence Q1 
2021 delayed on the basis that COVID 
has impacted many of our assets. 
Data collection has commenced. 
 
There was a proposal to prepare an 
interim Asset Management Statement 
in November 2020 on the basis that 
over the Summer of 2020, Covid case 
numbers were falling and facilities 
starting to reopen but still too much 
uncertainty to rewrite the full Strategy.. 
However, with the continued 
uncertainty brought about by the move 
to tiering, then 2nd national lockdown 
in November 2020 and further 
lockdown in January 2021, it was 
decided that there was little merit 
writing an interim statement when so 
much uncertainty remained. In 
addition, proposals were being 
developed for a potential separation of 
sharing arrangements with Breckland 

Jason 
King/Richard 
Hodgson P

age 53

A
genda Item

 8.



2 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved 
Date 

Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Note Assigned To 

District Council and the rewriting of a 
new Corporate Plan both of which 
would have a bearing on the content 
of the Strategy in addition to the 
pandemic response and subsequent 
recovery phases. 

AHM Collections 
Development Policy 

Non Statutory No 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-2020 Pending 
Review by 
PFH 

Policies were brought forward to the 
November meeting of PDP and noted. 
Final approval is now being sought for 
PFH sign off. 

Julia Knight 

AHM Collections 
Care and 
Conservation Policy 

Non Statutory No 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-2020 Pending 
Review by 
PFH 

Policies were brought forward to the 
November meeting of PDP and noted. 
Final approval is now being sought for 
PFH sign off. 

Julia Knight 

Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 14-Dec-2017 3 years 14-Dec-2020 In Review A revised version of this policy is to be 
taken to the next G&A for approval in 
March 

Faye Haywood 

Whistleblowing 
Policy - Confidential 
Reporting Code 

Statutory Yes 14-Dec-2017 3 years 14-Dec-2020 In Review A revised version of this policy is to be 
taken to the next G&A for approval in 
March 

Faye Haywood 

ICT Incident 
Management 

Non-Statutory Yes 21-Jan-2020 Annual 19-Feb02021 In Review This policy is in final draft having had 
Data protection officer input and will 
be submitted to management team for 
approval this month 

Jackie Wright 
(PSPS) 

Employee Access 
Policy 

Non-statutory Yes 21-JAN-2020 Annual 19-FEB-2021 In Review This policy is in final draft having had 
Data protection officer input and will 
be submitted to management team for 
approval this month 

Jackie Wright 
(PSPS) 

Corporate Plan Constitutional Yes 08-Mar-2018 1 year 01-Mar-2021 Approved Plan is reviewed annually and 
currently underway as part of COVID-
19 Recovery plans 

Greg Pearson 

P
age 54



3 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved 
Date 

Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Note Assigned To 

Capital Strategy Constitutional Yes 27-Feb-2019 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2020 Samantha 
Knowles 

Corporate Charging 
Policy - Accounting 
Services 

Constitutional Yes 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2020 Samantha 
Knowles 

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2020 Samantha 
Knowles 

Treasury 
Management 
Strategy Statement 

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2020 Samantha 
Knowles 

Treasury Policy 
Statement & Clauses 
to be Adopted 

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2020 Samantha 
Knowles 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy 
Statement 

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2020 Samantha 
Knowles 

Data Protection 
Policy 

Statutory No 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-2021 Approved Agreed at 29th May 2018 Cabinet Kirsty Mallett 

Corporate 
Enforcement Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-2021 Approved  Sarah Shipley 

Equalities Policy Non Statutory Yes 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 Approved  Ross Bangs 

Freedom of 
Information (FoI) 
Policy 

Statutory No 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 Approved  Ross Bangs 

Corporate Debt 
Policy - Accounting 
Services 

Non Statutory Yes 25-Jul-2017 3 years 25-Jul-2021 Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2020 Samantha 
Knowles 

Industrial Units 
Letting Policy 

Non Statutory No 27-Oct-2020 1 Year 01-Sep-2021 Approved  Jason King 

P
age 55



4 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved 
Date 

Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Note Assigned To 

Empty Homes 
Strategy 

Statutory Yes 27-Oct-2020 1 year 27-Oct-2021 Approved  Jason King 

Housing Assistance 
Policy 

Statutory Yes 27-Oct-2020 1 year 27-Oct-2021 Approved  Jason King 

Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy 

Statutory Yes 01-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved  Clinton Bell 

Hate Crime Policy Non Statutory No 01-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved Superseded by county policy - internal 
procedures will be updated as per 
agreement with policy panel 

Dee Bedford 

Safeguarding Policy Statutory No 20-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved Policy approved at SHDC cabinet 
20/11/18 

Donna Hall 

Unreasonable 
Behaviour and 
vexatious requests 

Non Statutory Yes 21-Nov-2017 3 years 21-Nov-2021 Due for 
Review 

This policy needs to be reviewed in 
line with the cautionary contact 
database.  The legal services 
manager has agreed we extend this 
for 12 months as there are no key 
changes at this time.  Given the 
upcoming changes to the shared 
strategic partnership we may need to 
consider a more extensive review in 
light of any new practises and 
procedures. 

Sarah 
Wolstenholme-
Smy 

Gambling Policy - 
Statement of 
Principles 

Constitutional Yes 28-Nov-2018 3 years 28-Nov-2021 Approved Approved at SHDC full council 
28/11/18 

Donna Hall 

Housing Tenancy 
Management Policy 

Statutory Yes 15-Dec-2020 1 Year 15-Dec-2021 Approved  Vikki Cherry 

Records 
Management Policy 

  Yes   3 years 01-Jan-2022 Pending 
Approval 

 Kirsty Mallett 

HR Policy Handbook Non Statutory Yes 18-Jan-2021 3 years 18-Jan-2022 In Review The policy handbook is currently Claire Burton 

P
age 56



5 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved 
Date 

Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Note Assigned To 

under review, a clause states in this 
handbook that unless significant 
changes are made then this policy 
handbook does not need to be 
reviewed by Committee, as there will 
be no significant changes the HR 
manager does not feel a review will be 
required. However the panel will be 
notified when the review is complete. 

Strategic Tenancy 
Policy 

Statutory No 01-Feb-2019 3 years 01-Feb-2022 Approved Caroline Hannon Attended PDP  in 
Feb where it was agreed to go to 
Senior Officers to determine the 
appetite for reviewing, the Panel were 
satisfied that officers would determine 
if there was an appetite for this. 
 
All councils are told to have a strategic 
tenancy policy, but this isn’t one that 
needs a formal review at this stage 

Matthew Hogan 

Anti-Social Behaviour 
Policy 

Statutory Yes 01-May-2019 3 years 01-Mar-2022 Approved The ASB Policy has been approved, 
as it is currently that of the 
Lincolnshire County Council one. The 
County one is currently out for 
consultation as it has been updated in 
line with new recommendations from 
the victims commissioner, any 
updated on this will be fed through to 
PDP 

Dee Bedford 

South Holland 
Common Housing 
Allocations Policy 

Statutory No 01-Jun-2013 3 years 01-Mar-2022 Approved This policy has been approved by 
PDP and is now going through the 
final process of approval 

Phil Stacey 

Affordable Housing Non Statutory Yes 01-Jan-2009 3 years 01-Apr-2022 Approved This Policy has approved within the Matthew Hogan 

P
age 57



6 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved 
Date 

Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Note Assigned To 

Policy Local Plan, It has been agreed there 
doesn't need to be a separate housing 
strategy, this has now been formally 
adopted in line with the Local Plan 

Taxi Licensing Policy Non Statutory Yes 01-Jun-2019 3 years 01-Jun-2022 Approved  Donna Hall 

Sexual 
Establishments 
Policy Statement 

Non Statutory Yes 06-Sep-2017 5 years 06-Sep-2022 Approved  
 

Donna Hall 

Constitution Statutory No 18-Jan-2018 1 year Ongoing Approved Changes continue to be made when 
and where necessary and agreed at 
Council on a regular basis. 

Rhonda Booth 

Health & Safety 
Policy 

Statutory No 15-Dec-2020 3 years 15-Dec-2023 Approved This has been agreed by PSPS to be 
a 3 yearly policy review cycle in line 
with other organisations. 

Emily Ferrier; Nick 
Kendrick 

Statement of 
Licensing Policy 

Constitutional Yes 07-Jan-2021 5 years 07-Jan-2026 Approved The statement of licensing policy has 
been revised and republished. Not 
due now until Jan 2026 

Donna Hall 

 
  

P
age 58



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Portfolio Holder for HRA & Private Sector Housing and Executive Director - 

Commercialisation (S151) 

  

To: Policy Development Panel, Tuesday 2nd March 2021  

 Cabinet, Tuesday 27 April 2021  

 

(Author: Vikki Cherry, Housing Services Manager) 

 

Subject Review of Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy 

 

Purpose: To seek approval of the revised Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy to 
advise Members of the consultation process required to implement a new 
policy. 

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That Members support the recommendation to Cabinet to adopt the revised Housing 

Allocations and Lettings Policy, subject to formal consultation with partner Registered 
Providers.   

 
2) That Members support the recommendation to Cabinet that amendments to the 

appendices of the Policy and minor operational amendments following consultation with 
partner Registered Providers are delegated to the Housing Landlord Services Manager 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for HRA & Private Sector Housing.   

 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Councils are legally required to have a policy on how they allocate social housing within 
their district.  The policy was last reviewed in 2019, however this was a minor review 
resulting in limited changes. The last major review was conducted in 2015.   
 

1.2 It is essential that the Allocations Policy is reviewed regularly to ensure that it meets current 
legislation & case law, and reflects the latest Council priorities.  Officers are recommending 
a fundamental review is conducted to reflect:  

 The impact of Covid-19 on the economy and housing market including changes to 
housing legislation and housing policy as a result of Covid-19  

 Experience and learnings from implementation of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017  

 Feedback from developers and Registered Providers on the data supporting local 
housing need when considering building properties in the district.   

 

1.3 The aim of the policy is to: 

 Provide an accessible, fair and transparent service  

 Meet local housing needs  

 Meet the housing needs of the most vulnerable  

 Prioritise those with the greatest/most urgent housing needs  

 Make the best use of existing social housing stock  

 Support safe and sustainable communities  

Page 59

Agenda Item 9.



 Offer applicants choice in relation to available accommodation.  
 

1.4 The proposed new policy has the following key changes:  

 NEW Four bands to allow for additional levels of housing need to be considered 
(replacing the current three band system).  

 Revised local connection criteria to reflect the local connection criteria set out in 
the Housing Act 1996 and the Homeless Reduction Act 2017. This allows for more 
transparency and consistency across Housing duties and resolves current 
difficulties with discharging homeless duties.   

 NEW Allowance for households without a local connection to join the Register 
where they contribute to the district and have a housing need. (These cases will 
be limited to band four - awarded the lowest priority).   

 NEW restriction of choice on location and property type when the household is in 
urgent need of rehousing (homeless/threatened with homelessness).  Locations 
and property types are assessed by the Housing Officer as part of a suitability 
assessment in line with Housing Act 1996.  This assessment will take into account 
place of work, schools and support networks.   

 NEW reduced number of offers of accommodation available to those in urgent 
housing need to increase turnover of the Register and resolve homelessness.    

 NEW increased household income threshold set at one-third of the average 
lower quartile housing sale price for the district (published by Hometrack).  
This figure will be set annually in April based on the figure published for October of 
the preceding year (as the figures are published every six months).  For 2021/22, 
the limit per household is £49,998 gross income.  This will allow more households 
to join the Register and to show a true reflection of the housing need in the district 
to Registered Providers/developers who wish to deliver additional affordable 
housing in the district.  

 Revised ‘unacceptable behaviour’ definition to ensure that sustainable tenancies 
are achieved, as a way of encouraging those with previous poor tenancy conduct 
to address their circumstances and carry out more actions before they access the 
Register.  Debt as a result of Covid-19 or redundancy will not be held against the 
applicant.   

 Changing to order of priority of the banding system for people threatened with 
homelessness to discourage people from seeking notice from their landlord to 
increase priority – no benefit to households becoming homeless and making 
homelessness declarations.  The Register is currently ‘top heavy’ with the High 
band primary consisting of homeless household’s.  This approach results in 
accommodation primarily being let to homeless households, and we believe this 
deters households in lower bandings from resolving their housing situation.  This 
policy change is made in order to dispel the myth that you need to make a 
homeless declaration to the council in order to be housed. 

 NEW management category to assist partner Register Providers and the Council 
in best management of stock which in turn creates further properties for letting 
through the Register. This includes priority for applicants releasing a significantly 
adapted property where the household no longer needs those adaptations.     

 NEW expectations to complete all steps set out in the Personal Housing Plan at 
point of offer (where applicants are threatened with homelessness or are 
homeless).  Making individuals take ownership of their issues and complete steps 
such as seeking debt advice to support them in sustaining a tenancy in the future  

 Revised bedroom standards to include unborn children post 26 weeks pregnancy 
in the bedroom standard calculation.  This will limit the demand on our shortage of 
1 bedroom properties and reduce unnecessary voids following households moving 
again once the baby is born.   

 NEW Prioritisation for significantly adapted properties to be let to those that need 

Page 60



the adaptations rather than those in highest housing need.  

 NEW Letting properties in new developments to applicants from a mixture of 
bands one and two (rather than those in greatest priority) to ensure that new 
balanced sustainable communities are created and the place shaped.   

 NEW ‘other forms of tenancies’ category to allow private tenants with no housing 
issues to qualify in recognition of their six month tenancy term.  Allowing these 
households to qualify will also result in the Register showing a truer reflection of 
the housing need in the district.    

 Additional steps at sign up of SHDC tenancies for those in receipt of/moving onto 
Universal Credit (to avoid delays in Housing Cost payments and so reduce 
chance of rent arrears)  

 Revised Housing Assessment Panel membership involving partner Registered 
Providers to improve and foster good working relationships.    
 

1.5 The Homelessness Reduction Act supports the revised approach to this policy, by 
rebalancing the relationship between the Council and its residents so that they become 
more active, independent and self-reliant; and are fully engaged in finding solutions to 
their problems. The Allocations Policy supports this direction of travel by the messages it 
gives, and the behaviour it encourages e.g. reduced priority for worsening circumstances, 
increased priority for those managing tenancies successfully. These changes will allow 
the Council to be more selective about new tenants (requiring them to address their 
circumstances before being re-housed), set a higher standard and deliver more 
sustainable tenancies.   
 

1.6 This policy reflects informal feedback from partner Registered Providers and they support 
the changes.  Following Cabinet approval, we are required to formally consult with 
partner Registered Providers. 
 

1.7 No changes have been made to the Sheltered Housing criteria, this remains the same as 
the existing policy. A review of the criteria will be conducted in 2022/23 following the 
implementation of the Sheltered Housing review.        
 

2.0 OPTIONS 
 

2.1 That Members support the recommendation to Cabinet to adopt the revised Housing 
Allocations and Lettings Policy, subject to formal consultation with partner Registered 
Providers.  That Members support the recommendation to Cabinet that amendments 
to the appendices of the Policy and minor operational amendments following 
consultation with partner Registered Providers are delegated to the Housing Landlord 
Services Manager in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for HRA & Private Sector 
Housing.   
 

2.2 That we do nothing and continue to adopt the 2019 policy. 
 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1 The policy needs to be reviewed in order to reflect the changing housing landscape 

nationally and locally in response to Covid-19 and the Homeless Reduction Act.  

 

3.2 The revised changes will allow greater numbers of households to join the Register.  Whilst 

we will still not allow tenants who have poor tenancy conduct to join the Register, we will 

allow a greater number of circumstances to qualify by partially relaxing qualification criteria.  

This will be a truer reflection of the housing need in South Holland and attract additional 

Page 61



building of social housing in the district, investment of funding from Homes England and 

Registered Providers.   

 

3.3 Changes proposed focussed on households threatened with homelessness or homeless 

will dispel the myth that you need to be homeless to be housed by the Council and support 

Officers’ advising applicants to take responsibility of their own circumstances and seek 

alternative accommodation.  It is hoped that this approach will also see a reduction in the 

number households making declarations as homeless to the authority.   

 

3.4 The review continues to focus the policy to a vision of ensuring allocations for the “Right 
Person, Right Place, Right Time and at the Right Price”.  

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 The revised Policy continues to support the Council’s digital agenda by encouraging 
applicants to self-serve.   
 

4.2 The partial relaxation of qualification criteria is intended to increase the number of 
applicants on the Housing Register which will support additional social housing being 
delivered in the district from Registered Providers.  
 

4.3 Social housing properties are used effectively, for example ensuring that properties with 
adaptations are only let to households that need the adaptations, rather than removing 
expensive equipment from properties  
 

4.4 To reinforce the positive characteristics of local people to engage in finding their own 
solutions to housing problems and, to become independent and resilient.  

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

5.1 Constitutional & Legal 

5.1.1 Housing matters, including this policy, are executive functions and are therefore a matter 

for the Cabinet to determine.  

 

5.1.2 This policy has been reviewed by Housing solicitors, Capsticks.  Further checks were 

conducted by Capsticks in December 2020 following MHCLG issuing new allocations 

guidance on 31 December 2020 in response to the UK leaving the EU.   A further check on 

this section of the policy will be completed before the report is presented to Cabinet.  

 

5.1.3 S166A of the Housing Act 1996 requires local housing authorities to consult on major 

changes to its allocations policy. We have informally sought feedback from partner 

Registered Providers, however appropriate formal consultation will be undertaken following 

approval of this Policy by Cabinet. 

 

Page 62



5.1.4 Information sharing agreements will be entered into with each Registered Provider in order 

for the Council to share information on prospective tenants.   

 

5.1.5 It is proposed that approval of minor changes following consultation are delegated to the 

Housing Landlord Services Manager in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for HRA & 

Private Sector Housing.   This will also for any further immigration changes to be 

implemented as a result of the UK leaving the EU and any minor changes to be made 

following formal consultation with Registered Providers.  

 

5.2 Corporate Priorities 

5.2.1 This policy supports the following corporate priorities: 

 Your home – mitigating and preventing households becoming homeless by 
managing tenancies effectively, addressing housing need earlier (by allowing 
greater number of households to qualify to access the Register) and being a 
landlord of choice  

 Your place – managing estates within communities to ensure they are attractive 
places to visit, live and work  

 Your health and wellbeing – assessing vulnerable tenants regularly and referring 
to partner agencies to influence and lead early intervention activities to support, 
reduce and prevent complex needs. Delivering sustainable tenancies.  

 Our Council – ensuring that Officers report and manage concerns regarding 
safeguarding and modern day slavery, making us a landlord of choice.  

 

5.3 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 

5.3.1 The Council promotes equal opportunities and aims to implement and maintain services 
that ensure no applicant is treated unfairly on the grounds of age, gender identity, marital 
status, pregnancy or maternity, sexual orientation, race, religious belief or disability or 
disadvantaged by the application of criteria that has a direct or indirect discriminatory effect 
that cannot be justified by law. An equality and impact assessment has been completed. 
 

5.3.2 Preference for allocations will be given to applicants in the reasonable preference 
categories as per the Housing Act 1996 and local lettings policies will not discriminate 
unjustifiably, directly or indirectly, on equality grounds. 
 

5.3.3 The requirement to apply online may impact some community groups who are not IT 
enabled. This is mitigated by arrangements in place to support those households who may 
not have access to technology to apply online. An example of this is the computer facilities 
available in the Priory Road reception area as well as the ability for Housing Officers to take 
telephone applications/submit applications on behalf of vulnerable individuals that have no 
family/support agencies to assist.  
 

5.3.4 We will ensure that applicants are made aware of the consequences of refusing an offer of 
accommodation. The refusal will not count where it is determined that the accommodation 
offered is not suitable. 
 

5.3.5 Applicants that are threatened with homelessness/homeless will be subject to one offer in 
locations deemed appropriate by the Housing Officer.  This is due to the severity of the 
housing situation and the urgency to secure accommodation. Suitability of offers will be 
assessed in line with the Housing Act 1996.  
 

5.3.6 Advice and assistance is available to ensure that the Allocations Policy is accessible for all 
applicants. Information can be translated or made available in different formats, such as 
large print, upon request.    
 

Page 63



5.3.7 There is an allowance for housing related debt to be disregarded where there is evidence of 
genuine financial hardship or an overriding housing need, this includes those financially 
impacted by COVID-19.  

 
5.4 Health & Wellbeing 

5.4.1 Ensuring that social housing is responsibly allocated will support the health and wellbeing 

of the residents of South Holland.  

5.4.2 This policy allows for adapted properties to be let those in need of the adaptions as a 

priority regardless of their housing need priority. This ensures best use of adaptations and 

use of Disabled Facilities Grant funding.  

5.5 Reputation 

5.5.1 The revised approach to the policy will enforce the change that the Council has adopted 

towards residents having personal responsibility for their situation.  Setting higher 

expectations of applicants will assist in promoting that change in culture.   

 

5.6 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

5.6.1 Internal feedback has been sought from the Strategic Housing Manager and the Housing 
Options Manager.   
  

5.6.2 The policy and proposed changes were presented to Housing Officers on 29 September 
2021.  Feedback was very positive.  Language in the policy was amended following 
feedback, employment definition tightened and additional categories included to reflect 
household’s staying with family/friends with no security of tenure.    
  

5.6.3 The policy and changes were presented to the Portfolio Holder for HRA and Private Sector 
Housing, the Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning, and the Portfolio Holder for Finance 
on 18 December 2020.  It was requested that further consideration was made regarding the 
definition on household income and reducing the threshold originally proposed.   
 

5.6.4 Members have been informally consulted on the key changes proposed. Feedback was 
very positive with questions raised about the approach regarding the letting of new 
developments.  Officers have had further consideration regarding this section of the policy 
and a worked example has been prepared for Policy Development Panel.  The 
recommended option is to let new developments to a mixture of bands 1 and 2 (50:50).  
This option is recommended by Officers because: 

 Band 1 cases will have the most urgent housing need and their circumstances will 

have been fully investigated and evidenced by Officers.   

 the majority of existing social housing tenants are likely to be placed in band 2.  
Councillors suggested increasing the number of properties let to existing social 
housing tenants (currently living in the district) as we are aware of their tenancy 
conduct and additional checks are carried out before they can access the Register.   

The proposed option is different to how new developments are let under the current policy 
and Officers anticipate that the changes will deliver a sustainable community that will 
integrate into the wider community as the individuals from these two bands will have a 
proven history of managing their housing successfully.   
  

5.6.5 Informal feedback was sought from partner Registered Providers and stakeholders in 
Autumn 2019.  Formal consultation with partner Registered Providers will be sought 
following approval of Cabinet.    
 

6 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

Page 64



6.1 All wards are affected.  

 

Background papers:- None  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Vikki Cherry, Housing Services Manager 

Telephone Number 01775 764707 

Email: vcherry@sholland.gov.uk  

 

Key Decision: Y – the policy will have a significant effect on communities in two or 

more Wards of the Council.  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service.   

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy  

Appendix B Summary of proposed changes shared with Members as part of 

informal consultation  

Appendix C Worked example for allocating properties in new developments  

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

South Holland District Council Housing Allocations Policy 2021 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  

 
1.1. The South Holland Housing Allocations Policy sets out how the Council will: 

 assess applications for housing,  

 determine eligibility, qualification and level of housing need 

 prioritise applications 

 allocate accommodation.  
  

1.2. In developing this Policy, the Council has taken into consideration the Housing Act 1996 
(as amended), the Localism Act 2011, the statutory Code of Guidance on the Allocation 
of Accommodation June 2012, and other relevant legislation and government guidance. 
Some parts of this policy are set in legislation – it has been highlighted when this is the 
case.   
 

1.3. This Policy is consistent with the Council’s Corporate Plan, Countywide Homelessness 
Strategy and Rough Sleepers Strategy.    

 
1.4. In developing this Policy, the Council has consulted with staff, partner landlords of social 

housing (formerly known as Housing Associations) with stock within South Holland, local 
voluntary and statutory agencies and elected members.      

 
1.5. The Council’s objectives for the Housing Allocations scheme are to:  

 Provide an accessible, fair and transparent service  

 Meet local housing needs  

 Meet the housing needs of the most vulnerable  

 Prioritise those with the greatest/most urgent housing needs  

 Make the best use of existing social housing stock  

 Support and create safe and balanced sustainable communities  

 Offer applicants choice in relation to available accommodation.  
 

1.6. The Council seeks to give all applicants choice in relation to location of accommodation 
but may have to limit choice in certain circumstances, such as where there is limited 
availability or where the Council is discharging a statutory duty to a homeless 
household.  
 

1.7. Letting of Council properties and nominations to partner landlord’s (set out in 3.1) within 
South Holland are covered by this Policy. This includes general needs accommodation 
for single persons, couples and families and sheltered accommodation. 
 

1.8. The following types of allocation are not covered by this Policy:  

 Tenancy successions  

 Tenancy assignments, such as mutual exchanges  

 Tenancy status changes, such as introductory to secure tenancies  

 Tenancy transfers pursuant to Court Orders  

 Management Allocations, such as:  
o Temporary lettings to existing Council tenants who need to be decanted 

pending major refurbishment or repair works  

Page 67



 

2 
 

o Emergency management moves where there are extenuating 
circumstances and partner agencies support this move  

o Temporary lettings to homeless households  

o Where there is a legal requirement to offer accommodation to a household 
following a compulsory purchase of a property  

o Where there is a legal requirement to offer accommodation to a displaced 
agricultural worker under the Rent (Agriculture) Act 1976.  

 
1.9. The Council promotes equal opportunities and aims to implement and maintain services 

that ensure no applicant is treated unfairly on the grounds of age, sex, gender 
reassignment, marital status, pregnancy or maternity, sexual orientation, race, religious 
belief or disability or disadvantaged by the application of criteria that has a direct or 
indirect discriminatory effect that cannot be justified by law.  

 
1.10. Personal information that the Council holds in relation to applications will be 

processed in accordance with Data Protection legislation. Information may need to be 
disclosed to Partner landlords or other landlords who may be able to offer 
accommodation. More information about how and why the Council may process 
personal data, data protection rights or how to contact the Council’s Data Protection 
Officer is available in the Council’s Privacy Notice, accessible on the Council’s website. 

 
2. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES  
 
2.1. South Holland District Council and partner landlords are committed to the promotion of 

equality of opportunity for all existing and potential applicants wishing to access the 
Scheme.  
 

2.2. In drafting this policy South Holland District Council has had regard to its public sector 
equality duty under s149 of the Equality Act 2010, in respect of the protected 
characteristics set out therein and has had regard to: 

 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation  

 Advancing equality of opportunity between different groups; and 

 Fostering good relations between different groups.  
 

2.3. As permitted by the Localism Act 2011, preference for allocations will be given to 
applicants in the reasonable preference categories and local lettings policies will not 
unjustifiably discriminate against persons possessing protected characteristics. 
 

2.4. Where necessary, the Council will seek to provide interpretation and translation 
facilities, within a reasonable timescale, as well as using alternative or additional 
methods of communication. 

 
3. PARTNERSHIPS  

 
3.1. Applicants will be considered for housing with the following partner landlords by 

applying to the South Holland Housing Register:  

 South Holland District Council  

 South Holland Homes 

 Longhurst Group 

 Platform Housing Group 

 Broadgate Homes  

 Accent Housing 

 CKH - Cross Keys Homes 

Page 68



 

3 
 

 Hastoe Housing Association 

 LHP- Lincolnshire Housing Partnership 

 Lincolnshire Rural Housing Association 

 Muir Group Housing Association 
 

3.2 These partners have been consulted with throughout the development of the policy to 
ensure their views could be taken into consideration.  

 
3.3 By making an application to join the Housing Register, the customer consents to their 

information being accessed by all our partner landlords.  
 

3.4 Each partner landlord will sign an Information Sharing Agreement with the Council 
which requires them to hold all customer information in accordance with data 
protection legislation and to take all reasonable care and diligence in performing its 
obligations in relation to the Housing Register.  

 
3.5 The partner landlords will not disclose confidential information to a third party except 

where: 

 the individual who is the subject of the confidential information has consented to 
the disclosure;  

 the Partner landlord or the Council is required by law to make such disclosures; or  

 disclosure is made in accordance with an information sharing protocol.  

 

3.6 The Information Sharing Agreement states that this clause will continue in perpetuity 
despite any termination or expiry of the agreement.  

 

3.7 Partner landlords with housing stock within the South Holland district are expected to 
let their properties through the Housing Register as nominations. Nominations for s106 
properties will be let in accordance with the relevant nomination agreement.   

 
4. THE HOUSING REGISTER  
 
4.1. The Council maintains a Housing Register of households who are applying for Council 

or partner landlord properties within South Holland.  
 
4.2. Applying to the Register  
 
4.3. An individual can only be included on one active application at any one time, either as 

a main or joint applicant, or as a member of an applicant’s household.  
 
4.4. Individuals must apply online at www.sholland.gov.uk. Where exceptional 

circumstances exist, alternative arrangements will be made available by the Council - 
this may include referring the applicant to an outside organisation. 

 
4.5. Applications from members of staff, board members, employees and their close 

relatives  
 
4.6. Council employees, elected members and their immediate relatives may apply for 

housing in the same way as other customers. However, those that fall into these 
groups must declare their status as part of their application.  

 
4.7. When handling an application from an individual that falls into one or more of these 

groups, the Housing Landlord Services Manager at South Holland District Council will 
be the officer responsible for verifying and approving the following:  

Page 69



 

4 
 

 The level of priority awarded to the application.  

 The vetting of offers of accommodation made as part of this scheme.  
 

4.8. Young people aged 16 or 17  
 
4.9. Legislation allows for young persons aged 16 and 17 years old to apply to the Register 

in the same way as any other customer, however the law prevents those in this age 
group from holding the legal interest of a tenancy agreement until they turn 18 years of 
age.  Any offers of accommodation to a 16 or 17 year old are likely to be dependent 
upon the specific requirements of the partner landlord.  

 
4.10. In general, applicants that fall within this age group will only be made an offer of 

accommodation where all of the following apply: 

 The applicant can provide a nominated adult who can hold the tenancy in trust 
until they reach the age of 18. 

 The applicant’s support needs have been assessed and they are considered to 
be:  
o able to maintain a tenancy without support, or  
o able to maintain a tenancy with support, and that support arrangements 

are in place.  

 The applicant has the financial means to cover the rent. 
 

4.11. The details of the specific requirements of each partner landlord can be made 
available on request. 

 
4.12. Providing information  
 
4.13. The information included on the application must be accurate. Applicants will be 

required to provide documentary evidence to support the information on their 
application and demonstrate that they have a housing need, for example proof of 
identity, address, income, savings and custody/access to children.  

 
4.14. Applicants who have indicated that they have a medical, mobility, welfare or hardship 

need will be required to provide supporting evidence and may need to be referred to 
an appropriate agency for an assessment.  

 
4.15. Consent to access data and information  
 
4.16. In order to access the Housing Register, the applicant must grant the Council consent 

to make necessary enquiries that will enable it to verify their circumstances. These 
enquiries may include:  

 Credit agency reference checks in order to verify present and previous 
addresses, household information, instances of housing related debt and income 
details.  

 Cross referencing details with Housing Benefit and Council Tax records.  

 Contacting previous or existing landlords to establish whether tenancy terms 
have been adhered to.  

 Contacting other partner agencies such as the Police and the Council’s 
Community Safety Team in order to verify incidents of anti-social behaviour.  

 Contacting border agencies and embassies in order to establish whether an 
applicant has an interest in land and/or property outside of the UK.  

 

Page 70



 

5 
 

4.17. The Council may make any further enquiries it deems necessary in order to confirm 
the information provided on an application. Applicants may be required to provide 
further information and evidence in relation to their circumstances.  
 

4.18. Applicant declaration and false statements 
 

4.19. In order to access the Housing Register, applicants will be required to declare that the 
information provided as part of their application is accurate and true. Applicants will 
also be asked to declare any of the following:  

 Details regarding income and assets, including any interest in land and/or 
property.  

 Details of any criminal convictions, previous possession orders or injunctions 
made against them and any incidents of anti-social behaviour  

 Details of any outstanding housing related debts, including rent and mortgage 
arrears.  

 
4.20. A number of Acts make it a criminal offence to engage in social housing fraud, 

including the Fraud Act 2006. Additionally, it is a criminal offence under s.171 of the 
Housing Act 1996 for an applicant to knowingly or recklessly provide false information, 
withhold information or allow a third party to provide false information on their behalf in 
relation to a Housing Register application. Such an offence could result in prosecution 
and an unlimited fine. If an applicant provides false information, withholds information 
or allows a third party to provide false information on their behalf, the Council reserves 
the right to disqualify the applicant from the register, withdraw any offer of 
accommodation and recover possession of any tenancy obtained. 
 

4.21. Statement on choice 
 

4.22. In applying to the Housing Register, applicants will be able to express choice over the 
following:  

 The areas of the district that they wish to be considered for an allocation of 
accommodation  

 The broad property type that they wish to be considered for (i.e. house, flat, 
bungalow etc) and that meets their needs. 

Applicants can vary their choices at any stage during the time whilst they hold a live 
Housing Register application.  

 
4.23. Where the Council accepts a Relief or Main Housing Duty (Housing Act 1996), area 

choices and property types will be determined by the Council as part of a suitability 
assessment.  
 

4.24. Assessment of applications  
 
4.25. The Council will assess completed applications and the supporting evidence provided.  

They will decide whether the applicant qualifies for the Housing Register, which 
banding is applicable to their circumstances and the type of properties they are eligible 
for. Incomplete applications will not be assessed and will be cancelled after 28 
calendar days.  

 
4.26. If an applicant is accepted onto the Housing Register, the applicant will be notified of 

the band their application has been placed in, the property type and areas they will be 
considered for.    

 

Page 71



 

6 
 

4.27. If an applicant is refused access to the Housing Register, the applicant will be notified 
in writing that their application has been refused and the reasons why.  

 
4.28. Changes in circumstances  
 
4.29. Applicants must notify the Council of any relevant change in their circumstances. 

Following notification of a change in circumstances, the application will be reassessed 
and may be moved from one band to another, or removed from the Register. 
Applicants will be notified of the outcome in writing. 

 
4.30. Review of circumstances  
 
4.31. Applicants within Band 1 will be contacted every 6 months to determine whether the 

circumstances/needs that led to the award are still prevailing. If upon the Council’s 
reassessment a lesser award is given, the application will be given the original date of 
registration. 

 
4.32. Applicants within all other bands will be contacted at least every 12 months to 

determine whether the circumstances/needs that led to the award are still prevailing. 
 
4.33. Applicants must respond to such requests within a specified time period (normally 14 

calendar days). Failure to respond within the specified time period will result in the 
application being cancelled.  

 
4.34. If at any time the Council receives evidence that an applicant who has already been 

accepted onto the Housing Register no longer qualifies, the applicant will be notified in 
writing that their application has been cancelled and the reasons for the cancellation. 
The applicant has a right to appeal this decision.   

 
4.35. Application Types   
 
4.36. Any applicant who does not hold an introductory, secure, starter, full assured or fixed-

term tenancy with a Council or partner landlord will be regarded as a new applicant.  
 
4.37. Any existing social housing tenant who holds a tenancy (i.e. an introductory, secure, 

starter, full assured or fixed-term flexible tenancy) with a Council or partner landlord 
will be regarded as a transfer applicant. Social housing tenants can only make a joint 
transfer application if both applicants currently hold a joint tenancy. Social housing 
tenants who currently hold a joint tenancy can only make an application to transfer 
their tenancy if both tenants will be moving together. 

 
5. ELIGIBILITY FOR OFFERS OF ACCOMMODATION UNDER PART 6 HOUSING 

ACT 1996  
 
5.1. In considering an application, the Council will firstly assess if an applicant is eligible for 

an allocation of accommodation and secondly, whether an applicant qualifies for an 
allocation of accommodation.  To join the Register, applicants must be eligible as per 
Part 6 Housing Act 1996 and meet the qualification criteria (see section 6).  

 
5.2. Eligibility and/or qualification status can change and accordingly can be reassessed by 

the Council at any point. All applicants will be required to provide evidence to verify 
both their eligibility and qualification status at the point of application and again at the 
point of allocation. 

 
5.3. Persons subject to immigration control - the Housing Act 1996 s160ZA determines that 

Page 72



 

7 
 

a person(s) who fall(s) into the following categories may not be allocated 
accommodation:   

 A person subject to immigration control within the meaning of the Asylum and 
Immigration Act 1996 (unless he or she comes within a class prescribed in 
regulations made by the Secretary of State) or  

 Other persons from abroad who are not subject to immigration control but are 
prescribed by regulations as not eligible for an allocation of accommodation 
including British citizens not currently residing in the UK and therefore not 
Habitually Resident or 

 Any persons who is excluded from entitlement to universal credit or housing 
benefit by virtue of s115 Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 
 

5.4 In respect of People from Northern Ireland and those who are Stateless, we will 

comply with the Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 

Regulations 2006 (S.I. 2006/1294) as amended by the Allocation of Housing and 

Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2020.  

 
6. QUALIFICATION   

 
6.1. An applicant does not qualify to join the Register in any of the following circumstances:  

 The applicant or members of their household have been found guilty of 
‘unacceptable behaviour’ which would make them unsuitable to be a tenant 
including owing a housing related debt (subject to paragraph 6.16 of this 
Scheme). 

 The applicant or members of their household owns a freehold or long leasehold 
interest in a property. The only exception to this is where there is an 
overwhelming welfare need, as assessed by the Council and its partners.  

 The household’s annual income and/or savings and assets would enable them to 
purchase or rent suitable accommodation on the open market.  

 The applicant is presently serving a custodial sentence, and therefore unable to 
take up an offer of accommodation 

 The applicant is incapable in law of holding a legal tenancy 

 The applicant has refused the maximum number of suitable offers applicable (as 
per 8.32).   

 
6.2. In general, tenants of partner landlords may be considered as qualifying persons at 

point of application and offer, but will not be provided with an offer of accommodation 
until the following has been satisfied:  

 The rent account of their existing property is clear.  

 The property has been inspected and has been assessed as being in a good 
condition.  

 There have been no breaches of tenancy conditions within the last 12 months.  
 
6.3. Tenants of partner landlords who wish to transfer must obtain a written reference from 

their landlord covering the points in 6.2 before joining the Housing Register. All transfer 
applicants must have held their current tenancy for a period of at least twelve months 
before being considered for a transfer. A further reference will be required at point of 
offer.  
 

6.4. Unacceptable behaviour   
 

Page 73



 

8 
 

6.5. Applicants who are unsuitable to be a tenant because they (or any member of their 
household) have been responsible for unacceptable behaviour will not qualify to join 
the Housing Register for a period of at least 12 months.  The applicant’s behaviour, 
and that of any household member, will be taken into account at registration and offer 
stage. 

 
6.6. Examples of unacceptable behaviour include (but are not limited to):  

 Being found guilty in a court of law for any of the following within the last 2 years: 
o violence or threats of violence  
o domestic abuse  
o physical, sexual or financial abuse  
o threatening behaviour or intimidation  
o harassment  
o discriminatory abuse or harassment  
o anti-social behaviour  
o drug dealing  
o property damage  

 Giving false information or withholding information in relation to an application for 
housing within South Holland or any other area 

 Receiving a Possession Order against a social housing tenancy in the last 6 
months.  

 
6.7. In determining whether an applicant does not qualify due to Unacceptable 

Behaviour, we will consider:  

 The seriousness of the applicant’s behaviour  

 The duration of the behaviour and/or the number and frequency of incidents  

 The length of time that has elapsed since the behaviour took place  

 Relevant vulnerabilities and support needs  

 Whether there has been meaningful engagement with support agencies  

 Whether there has been a significant and sustained change in the applicant’s 
behaviour. 

 
6.8. Applicants that do not qualify to join the Housing Register due to unacceptable 

behaviour will be refused access for a 12 month period.  They will be informed in 
writing stating the reasons and their right to request a review of this decision.   
 

6.9. At the end of the 12 month period, the applicant will need to approach the Council 
again and provide evidence that their behaviour has improved, and/or that they have 
taken action to help improve their chances of being accepted.  If they qualify to join 
upon reassessment, the application will be placed into the appropriate band from the 
date the application was reassessed. 

 
6.10. We will work collaboratively with the applicant and all relevant agencies including 

the police, probation, social services and prison service in an effort to resolve an 
applicant’s ineligibility.  

 
6.11. Housing related debt  

 
6.12. Housing related debt concerns the following:  

 Rent or service charge arrears for a current or former tenancy or licence  

 Recharge debts relating to a current or former tenancy or licence  

 Court costs relating to a current or former tenancy or licence  

 Debts relating to temporary accommodation placements, such as bed and 
breakfast or hostel accommodation placements  

Page 74



 

9 
 

 Mortgage arrears  

 Debts relating to rent in advance/deposit schemes or other homelessness 
prevention schemes  

 Housing Benefit/Universal Credit Housing Cost overpayments.  
 

6.13. Only recoverable housing related debt will be considered.  A debt is defined as not 
being recoverable where:  

 the debt is statute barred  

 the debt is part of an Individual Voluntary Arrangement (IVA) or bankruptcy 
arrangement.  

  
6.14. Applicants who owe a housing related debt of £250 or more will not be able to access 

the Housing Register until they have adhered to a repayment plan for at least the last 
12 consecutive weeks. The repayment plan will be determined by the Council in 
conjunction with the applicant.    

 
6.15. Tenants of partner landlords (including tenants of South Holland District Council) 

must have clear rent accounts on their existing accommodation.     
 
6.16. If there is evidence of genuine financial hardship or an overriding housing need, an 

applicant may be considered to qualify even if they have not been able to consistently 
maintain repayments for at least the last 12 consecutive weeks. 

 
6.17. Worsening of circumstances  

 
6.18. Applicants who are found to have worsened their housing circumstances in order to 

improve their prospects of receiving an offer of social housing will not be eligible for 
inclusion onto the Housing Register. Deliberate worsening of circumstances arises 
where the applicant or anyone in their household has given up accommodation that 
was suitable for their needs and where there was no requirement or obligation to do 
so. For example, an applicant moves from a secure tenancy to an insecure tenancy 
and it can be evidenced that they did this deliberately (or against professional advice) 
in order to increase their banding.  

 
6.19. If we believe that the applicant has deliberately made their housing circumstances 

worse, inclusion onto the Housing Register will be refused for 12 months from the 
date the circumstances were worsened. Applicants will be informed in writing stating 
the reasons. Applicants will have the right to request a review of this decision. 

 
6.20. At the end of the 12 month period, applicants can request reassessment of their 

application. On reassessment, the application will be placed into the appropriate 
band from the date the application was reassessed.  

 
6.21. In some cases, people may have worsened their circumstances but did not do so to 

deliberately improve their banding. Reasons may include (but are not limited to) the 
applicant or anyone in their household who has within the past 12 months:  

 abandoned a previous tenancy  

 moved to new housing that is worse than their previous housing without good 
reason  

 moved from an adapted to an un-adapted home  

 sold a property or given notice on a tenancy without getting other housing first.    
 

6.22 In this situation, we will refuse access for a period of 3 months. Inclusion onto the 
Housing Register will be refused for 3 months from the date the circumstances were 

Page 75



 

10 
 

worsened. Applicants will be informed in writing stating the reasons. Applicants will 
have the right to request a review of this decision. 

 
6.23 At the end of the 3 month period, applicants can request reassessment of their 

application. On reassessment, the application will be placed into the appropriate 
band from the date the application was reassessed.  

 
6.24 Homeowners   

 
6.25 An applicant is not a qualifying person if they own a freehold or long leasehold 

interest in a property anywhere in the world. The only exceptions to this are where 
one or more of the following apply:  

 Where the council is satisfied that an applicant is legally threatened with 
homelessness.  

 Where an applicant can demonstrate that there is an overwhelming welfare 
need (as assessed by the Council and its partners) that is best met through 
accommodation in the social housing sector.  

 Where the applicant is applying for and meets the criteria for sheltered 
accommodation. In this situation, an applicant will be considered to be a 
qualifying person but only for the purposes of being allocated sheltered 
accommodation.  

 
6.26 Applicants with sufficient income, savings, assets and equity  

6.27 An applicant will not be considered to be a qualifying person if:  

 They have sufficient income, levels of assets or savings that would enable 
them to purchase or rent suitable accommodation on the open market.  The 
annual income level will be set at one-third of the average lower quartile 
housing sale price for the district (published by Hometrack).  This figure will 
be set annually in April based on the figure reported for October of the 
preceding year.  For 2021/22, the limit per household is £49,998 gross 
income.   

 The threshold for household assets or savings will be consistent with the 
Government’s upper limit for savings set out in the common rules of the 
DWP Benefit and Pension Rates (or any succeeding publication).  For 
2021/22, this limit is £16,000.   

 
6.28 Where an applicant has a beneficial interest in a property, the applicant would be 

expected to demonstrate appropriate consideration regarding realising this 
interest.     
 

6.29 Local Connection  
 

6.30 To enhance mobility within South Holland, we will give preference to applicants with a 
local connection to South Holland. Local connection is defined in s199 Housing Act 
1996: 

 The applicant has lived through their own choice in the Council’s Local 
Authority area for the six of the last twelve months, or had at least three years 
residence in the district during the previous five years.   

 The applicant has parents, adult children, brothers or sisters residing in the 
district, and the relatives have been resident for the previous five years  

 The applicant or a member of their household have paid employment or a 
confirmed offer of paid employment within South Holland.  The main place 
of work must be located within South Holland and the employment would 

Page 76



 

11 
 

normally need to be for at least 16 hours per week and on a contract that 
is permanent or expected to last for a period of at least 12 months).  

 The applicant is aged 18, 19 or 20 and was looked after, accommodated or 
fostered by Lincolnshire County Council between the ages of 16 and 18.  

 The applicant is a former Lincolnshire County Council care leaver aged 
under 25 years and receives advice and support from Lincolnshire County 
Council under a ‘pathway plan’. 

 
6.31 Households with no local connection will be able to join the Register if they can 

demonstrate contribution to the district and have a housing need.  Households in 
this category will remain in band 4. 
 

6.32 As per Housing legislation, the local connection test does not apply to certain 
members, former members and bereaved spouses or partners of the Regular 
Armed forces as set out at paragraph 7.4 of this scheme and as required by 
s160ZA(8) of the Housing Act 1996.     

   
7 THE STRUCTURE OF THE PRIORITY BANDING SYSTEM 
 

7.1 A banding scheme has been adopted to prioritise the housing need of applicants.  
They are priroitised by date of registration within the band.  

   

7.2 There are four housing bands 

 Band 1 – Emergency Priority   

 Band 2 – Urgent Priority  

 Band 3 – High Housing Need 

 Band 4 – Identified Housing Need  
 
7.3 Further information on the banding categories can be found in appendix A.  
  
7.4 Statutory Reasonable Preference  
 
7.5 Section 166A(3) of the Housing Act 1996 states that certain groups of people shall  

have ‘reasonable preference’ within any scheme of allocation. These groups are:  

 People who are homeless (within Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 as amended 
by the Homelessness Act 2002); this includes people who are intentionally 
homeless, and those who are not in priority need;  

 People who are unintentionally homeless or threatened with homelessness 
and who are in priority need who are owed a duty by any housing authority 
under section 193 (2) or 195 (2) of the Housing Act 1996 (or under Section 65 
(2) or 68 (2) of the Housing Act 1985) or who are occupying accommodation 
secured by any housing authority under Section 192 (3);  

 People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory housing conditions;  

 People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including grounds 
relating to disability;  

 People who need to move to a particular locality in the area, where failure to 
meet that need would cause hardship (to themselves or to others).  

 
7.6 Additional preference  

 
7.7 Under s166A (3) a scheme of allocation can give additional preference to applicants 

with urgent housing needs in the following circumstances: 

Page 77



 

12 
 

 Current and former members of the armed forces (even where there is no local 
connection) who:  
o are serving in the regular forces and are suffering from a serious injury, 

illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to the person’s 
service,  

o formerly served in the regular forces,  

o have recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled to reside in 
accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence following the death of 
that person’s spouse or civil partner who has served in the regular forces 
and whose death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service, or  

o are serving or have served in the reserve forces and are suffering from a 
serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to 
the person’s service.  

 Persons who are terminally ill and must move to suitable accommodation  

 Other exceptional circumstances.    
 
7.8 The date of application is backdated by 12 months in cases where additional 

preference is awarded.    
 
8   LETTING PROPERTIES  

 
8.1 Letting Bedroom Standard  
 
8.2 Housing providers will generally let in accordance with the social size criteria, 

introduced by the Welfare Reform Act 2012. The rules allow 1 bedroom for  

 Every adult couple  

 Any other adults aged 16 or over  

 Any 2 children of the same sex aged under 16*  

 Any 2 children aged under 10*  

 Children who can’t share a bedroom because of a disability or medical 
condition  

 A carer (or team of carers) providing overnight care  
 
8.3 *Unborn children will be taken into account when assessing bedroom eligibility from 

week 26 of the pregnancy.       
 

8.4 One spare bedroom is allowed for  

 An approved foster carer who is between placements, but only for up to 52 
weeks from the end of the last placement  

 A newly approved foster carer for up to 52 weeks from the date of approval if 
no child is placed with them during that time.  

 
8.5 Rooms used by students and members of the armed or reserve forces will not be 

counted as ‘spare’ if they’re away and intend to return home. 
 

8.6 If an applicant shares the care of a child with the child's other parent, the child will be 
treated as living with the parent who provides the child's main home. If the child 
spends equal amounts of time with both parents, they will be treated as living with the 
parent who claims Child Benefit for them. This may mean that the applicant won't be 
allowed a bedroom for the child. The partner landlord might be lenient if there is low 
demand for the type of property requested and the applicant can provide evidence 
they can afford the rent payments.  

 

Page 78



 

13 
 

8.7 Sheltered housing    
 
8.8 Sheltered Housing provides communal living for individuals who wish to live 

independently.  Letting of these properties is subject to additional qualification criteria. 
 

8.9 The following will qualify for Sheltered Housing: 

 Where the main applicant is at least 55 years of age regardless of sex,  

 Where no other member of the household is aged below 45 years of age, 
except a partner.  

 Where all other ‘qualifying person’ criteria tests in relation to local connection, 
unacceptable behaviour, owner-occupation and ‘sufficient resources’ are met. 

 
8.10 The following may qualify for Sheltered Housing:  

 The main applicant falls below the automatic qualification age, but in the view 
of the Council would benefit from living in the communal environment that 
sheltered housing provides including a need for the telecare service, or  

 Those ordinarily considered being ‘non-qualifying persons’ on the grounds of 
being owner-occupiers or having sufficient resources, but where individual 
need is demonstrated.  

In this scenario, the following must also be taken into account:    

 Whether the applicant has a vulnerability and/or health and wellbeing need 
that is best met in a sheltered housing environment.  

 Whether the applicant has an overwhelming medical need that is best met in 
a sheltered housing environment.  

 
8.11 All applicants for sheltered accommodation must agree to undertake the following: 

 To subscribe to and pay for an alarm monitoring and assistance system  

 To allow quarterly home visits to test their alarm monitoring and assistance 
system.    

 
8.12 Accessible properties for people with disabilities 
 
8.13 Accessible properties are homes that have been designed for or significantly adapted 

to meet the needs of people with physical or sensory disabilities. We will prioritise 
applicants with an assessed need for accessible accommodation. 

 
8.14 Local lettings policies, planning conditions and s106 Agreements  
 
8.15 The Council may develop Local Lettings Policies for specific properties or areas, in 

order to meet local housing need or support the development of balanced and 
sustainable communities. Local Lettings Policies include criteria that are designed to 
address specific issues or needs. Examples of these criteria include:  

 Village or Parish Connection  

 Age  

 Behaviour.  
 

8.16 Consideration will always be given to the implications of a Local Lettings Policy for 
equal opportunities and the statutory ‘reasonable preference’ criteria. Overall, 
preference for allocations will be given to applicants in the reasonable preference 
categories and local lettings policies will not discriminate unjustifiably, directly or 
indirectly on the ground of a protected characteristic. Local Lettings Policies will be 
reviewed and removed once their objectives have been achieved.   
 

Page 79



 

14 
 

8.17 New developments may have planning conditions with letting restrictions or Section 
106 agreements.  To ensure new schemes deliver balanced, sustainable 
communities, we will aim to allocate the new homes to a mixture of applicants with 
50% of lets from band 1 and 50% of lets from band 2.   

 
8.18 Offering a property  
 
8.19 The Council reserves the right not to consider applicants in the following 

circumstances:  

 Where the applicant is already under offer for a different property  

 Where the applicant poses a risk to individuals or the community where the 
property is based  

 Where there are Local Lettings Plans in place and the individual does not 
meet the criteria of the Plan  

 Where the property is accessible and the household has no need for the 
adaptations - we will always aim to let an accessible property to a household 
that needs those adaptations.  In some circumstances, priority may be given 
outside of date or band order, if the property is particularly suitable for the 
needs of an applicant. 

 
8.20 Allocations and Offers 

 
8.21 The Council’s Housing Team will allocate properties in accordance with this Policy.   

 
8.22 Properties will be shortlisted in the following order: 

 By need for specialist components in the property e.g. disabled adaptations  

 By housing band  

 By registration date within the band.    

 
8.23 If more than one applicant has the same band and registration date, we will allocate 

based on the individual housing circumstances of the case and all relevant factors.  

  
8.24 We will match applicants who have a need for adaptations to accessible properties.  

A specialist such as an Occupational Therapist may be consulted on the suitability of 
the property.  

 
8.25 Successful applicants will be offered the property in writing and will have 5 working 

days to respond to an offer of accommodation. Some applicants may be given longer 
to consider an offer, for example where there are identified vulnerabilities that 
significantly affect the applicant’s ability to respond.    

 
8.26 In the case of existing tenants of partner landlords (including SHDC Council tenants), 

prior to offer, the Council will make contact with the landlord to satisfy themselves 
that:  

 The rent account of their existing property is clear  

 The property has been inspected and has been assessed as being in a good 
condition 

 There have been no breaches of tenancy conditions.  
The partner landlord is expected to provide this information within 5 working days.   

 

Page 80



 

15 
 

8.27 All applicants will be required to provide documentary evidence to confirm the 
circumstances detailed on their application at the point of offer.  

 
8.28 Additional steps will be required for the following scenarios: 

 Where applicants are in homeless categories (Relief and Main Duty), a 
suitability check is required to confirm the property and location is suitable 
for the household.  This is because it will be treated as a Final Offer of 
accommodation and the duty discharged.   

 Where applicants owe housing related debt of more than £250, they will 
need to supply evidence that they have adhered to a repayment plan for at 
least the last 12 consecutive weeks within 10 working days (subject to 
paragraph 6.16 of this Scheme).   If this is not completed within the 
reasonable timescales, then the offer will be withdrawn. 

 Applicants may be required to complete an affordability assessment to 
confirm that the accommodation offered will be suitable. If this is not 
completed within the reasonable timescales, then the offer will be withdrawn.  

 Where applicants are subject to a Personalised Housing Plan all steps will 
need to be completed and all evidence provided within 5 working days of the 
offer being made.  If this is not completed within the reasonable timescales, 
then the offer will be withdrawn.    

 
8.29 Withdrawal of offer  
 
8.30 The Council reserves the right to withdraw any offer of accommodation where there 

is just cause. The Council will explain to the applicant why an offer has been 
withdrawn.  

 
8.31 If the applicant provides proof that demonstrates their circumstances have changed 

to such an extent that they are no longer eligible for the property, the offer will be 
withdrawn. If the applicant is unable to provide proof of their circumstances, the offer 
will be withdrawn and the application will be suspended until the required information 
has been provided and the application has been reassessed. 

 
8.32 Refusals of suitable offers  
 
8.33 Failure to respond to an offer within 5 working days will be treated as a refusal. If an 

applicant fails to respond to an offer, their application will be suspended pending 
contact and confirmation of their circumstances. The application will be cancelled if 
there is no contact within 28 days.  

 
8.34 Applicants in ‘homeless’ categories will be subject to one suitable offer of 

accommodation in any location that the Council believes to be suitable for the 
household.  Applicants in all other categories will be subject to a maximum of two 
suitable offers.  Applicants that have refused their maximum amount of offers will 
be disqualified from the Housing Register for a 12 month period, after which time 
a new application must be made. 

 
8.35 If a homeless applicant who is owed the Relief Duty under Section 189B of the 

Housing Act 1996, the Main Housing Duty under Section 193(2) of the Housing Act 
1996 or the Accommodation Duty under Section 193C(4) of the Housing Act 1996 
refuses a Final Offer of suitable accommodation, their application will be cancelled 
and they will lose their priority status and the relevant homeless duty will be 
discharged.  

Page 81



 

16 
 

 
8.36 Hard to Let Properties  

 
8.37 In order to ensure the best use of available housing stock, consideration will be given 

to changes in the qualification criteria for properties for which there is no waiting list.  
 

8.38 The Council may consider advertising hard to let properties and letting these 
properties to residents that live in the district but do not meet the local connection 
criteria.   

 
8.39 Council tenancy sign-up process 

 
8.40 Before the tenancy is signed and keys released, applicants offered Council properties 

will be required to: 

 show proof of submission of new tenancy information to DWP or the Council’s 
Housing Benefit department.  This applies to existing Universal Credit 
claimants or new claimants where a move will trigger a Universal Credit claim. 
A text message, email or screen shot of the Universal Credit online account 
will be acceptable.  

 Arrange payment of four weeks rent in advance, unless there are extenuating 
circumstances where this amount may be reduced.    

 
9  DISCRETIONARY LETTINGS 

 
9.1 The lettings below can be made at the sole discretion of the Council and fall outside 

of the Allocations Policy:  

 When one party gives notice on a joint tenancy this has the effect of bringing 
the whole tenancy to an end.  In the case of existing Council tenancies, the 
Council will have regard to all the circumstances of the case and, if so 
requested, decide whether to grant a sole tenancy to the former joint tenant 
who remains in the property.  Factors to be considered include (but are not 
limited to) responsibility for children, caring for a relative, the size of the 
property having regard to the household size of the applicant requesting the 
property, and the demand for that particular property at the time. 

 Where the Family Court determines a transfer of tenancy - this is not 
considered an Allocation.     

 
10 REQUESTING A REVIEW AND THE HOUSING ASSESSMENT PANEL  

 
10.1. The Housing Assessment Panel will meet once a month and partner landlords will 

form part of this panel.  A minimum of 3 members will be present.   
 
10.2. The Housing Assessment Panel will consider the following: 

 Review requests from the applicant  

 Consideration around relaxation of the qualification criteria for exceptional 
cases (presented by partner landlords and Council Housing Officers).   

 
10.3. Every Applicant has the right to request a review of;  

 the band into which they have been placed  

 decisions taken in relation to their Registration  

 the suitability of the property/location where they have been offered (for 
homeless cases).   
 

10.4. All requests for a review must be:  

Page 82



 

17 
 

 in writing, addressed to the Housing Options Manager at South Holland District 
Council, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE or email 
housingoptions@sholland.gov.uk   

 received within 21 days from the date of the decision letter, from the 
applicant(s) or their representative, clearly stating the grounds on which the 
review is being sought and providing any supporting evidence. Verbal 
representation will be allowed in exceptional circumstances. 
 

10.5. The Housing Assessment Panel will review such requests and provide a written 
response within 56 days of receipt of the request setting out the reasons for the 
decision. The outcome of a review will always be given in writing. 

 
Appendix A - Banding Structure  
 
1.    BAND 1 – EMERGENCY PRIORITY 

 
1.1. Applicants in this band will be entitled to one suitable offer of accommodation in any 

area of the district that the council considers to be suitable.  See section 8 for more 
information. 
 

1.2. Homeless Duty  
 

1.3. Homeless applicants who are owed the Main Housing Duty under Section 193(2) of 
the Housing Act 1996 by the Council.   

 
1.4. The offer made will be treated as a final accommodation offer.  If a homeless applicant 

refuses a final offer of suitable accommodation, (which may be an offer of private 
sector accommodation), the relevant homeless duty will be discharged and their 
application will be reassessed. 

 
1.5. Emergency medical, welfare or hardship  

 
1.6. There is a serious medical condition or disability that is made substantially worse 

by the current housing. This would include people whose life is at risk due to their 
current housing conditions or who are completely housebound because of the type 
of accommodation they live in.  

 
1.7. Dangerous or hazardous housing conditions  

 
1.8. Where an applicant is living in a private rented sector property and the Council has 

determined that the property poses a Category 1 hazard (excluding overcrowding) 
under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System, and there is no prospect of the 
disrepair being remedied within a timescale that the Council considers to be 
reasonable. Additionally, the Council has assessed and is satisfied that as a result of 
continuing to occupy, the accommodation will pose a considerable risk to the 
applicant’s health. 

 
1.9. A private sector property (either owned or rented) is subject to a Council prohibition or 

demolition order for disrepair. 
 

1.10. Where the applicant has been assessed as statutorily overcrowded in accordance with 
the Housing Act 1985 and/or the Housing Act 2004.  This does not apply if the 
applicant has been placed in the accommodation temporarily by the Council.   

 
2. BAND 2 – URGENT PRIORITY  

Page 83

mailto:housingoptions@sholland.gov.uk


 

18 
 

 
2.1. Ready to ‘Move-On’  
 
2.2. Where tenants of supported accommodation are ready to move on, leaving supported 

housing as part of an agreed plan to re-integrate into the community. It may be 
necessary to defer offers until the move-on plan and support needs have been 
assessed.  

 
2.3. Applicants who are residing in accommodation provided by Lincolnshire County 

Council under Section 20 or Section 22A of the Children Act and are ready to 
move to independent accommodation.  

 
2.4. Applicants residing with family and are at risk of exclusion from the family home and 

are ready to live independently.   This category will only apply where family have 
attended mediation and agreed to continue to accommodate the applicant for at least 6 
months. 

 
2.5. Severe moderate medical, welfare or hardship  
 
2.6. The applicant or a member of their household has a medical condition that is severely 

impaired by their housing situation or their housing contributes to causing serious ill 
health.  

 
2.7. Alternatively, there are exceptional circumstances where the only way a housing need 

can be resolved is through the use of discretion. In the interests of fairness to all 
applicants, these circumstances are kept to a minimum.   

 
2.8. Management need  
 
2.9. Applicants are social housing tenants within the district and  

 have succeeded to or have been assigned a social housing tenancy in the 
district and are required to move to alternative accommodation as the property is 
not suitable for their needs because of its size or type. 

 are occupying a significantly adapted property and they no longer require the 
adaptations.  (The award will be granted only where the landlord will be given 
vacant possession of the property). 

 require more bedrooms than they presently have. (This award does not apply 
where the applicant has been placed in any interim/temporary 
accommodation by any Local Authority).   

 are under-occupying the property and willing to downsize to a smaller property 
(This award does not apply where the applicant has been placed in any 
interim/temporary accommodation by any Local Authority).   

 require extensive disabled adaptations and are prepared to move to a property 
with such adaptations rather than adapting their existing home. Medical evidence 
will be required including Occupational Therapist recommendations.   

 
2.10. Applicants are currently occupying social housing within the district who are not eligible 

to succeed to a social housing tenancy in the district but lived in the property with the 
tenant for at least 12 months prior to the tenant’s death, and continue to occupy the 
property.    

 
3. BAND 3 – HIGH HOUSING NEED  
 
3.1. At risk of homelessness or homeless  

Page 84



 

19 
 

 
3.2. The following circumstances will come under this category: 

 Applicants who are owed the Prevention Duty under Section 195 of the Housing 
Act 1996 by the Council. 

 Applicants who are owed the Relief Duty under Section 189B (2) of the Housing 
Act 1996 by the Council.   

 
3.3. The offer made will be treated as a final accommodation offer.  Applicants in this 

category will be entitled to one suitable offer.  If a homeless applicant refuses a final 
offer of suitable accommodation, (which may be an offer of private sector 
accommodation), the relevant homeless duty will be discharged and their application 
will be reassessed. 
  

3.4. No security of tenure  
 

3.5. The applicant has no security of tenure, for example lives with a resident landlord or is 
lodging with friends.  
 

3.6. Moderate medical, welfare or hardship  
 
3.7. The applicant or a member of their household has a medical condition that is impaired 

by their housing situation, but they are generally able to cope. 
  
3.8. Overcrowding, disrepair or other poor housing conditions  

 
3.9. The household requires one or more bedrooms than they presently have and are a 

tenant:  

 in the private rented sector  

 of a partner landlord but their home is outside of the district  

 of a non-partner landlord.  
 

3.10. The applicant requires single person accommodation and is living with family or friends 
in accommodation where they are sharing facilities (such as bathroom, kitchen or 
toilet) without sole use of a bedroom. 
 

3.11. Applicants are living in accommodation that has disrepair, where the issues cannot be 
remedied by the landlord within a time period that the Council considers to be 
reasonable. This will be assessed in partnership with the Council’s Private Sector 
Housing Team.    
 

4. BAND 4 – IDENTIFIED HOUSING NEED  
 
4.1. Not statutorily homeless  

 
4.2. People who are not in priority need or are considered intentionally homeless and/or 

any relief duty has been discharged as per the Homeless Reduction Act 2017.  
Applicants in this category will be entitled to one suitable offer. 
 

4.3. Other forms of tenancies  
 
4.4. The applicant is renting a property and is not a social housing tenant.   
 
4.5. Ex-armed forces personnel  
 

Page 85



 

20 
 

4.6. Applicants who are current or former members of the armed services, or their 
bereaved spouse or civil partner, as set out at paragraph 7.5 of this Scheme, will 
qualify for a Band 4 award automatically.  

 
4.7. Offer of employment 

 
4.8. Applicants do not currently reside in the district but have paid employment or an offer 

of paid employment within the district.     
 

4.9. Relationship breakdown  
 

4.10. Applicant is a joint social housing tenant within the district and has suffered a 
relationship breakdown.   

 
4.11. Sheltered Housing benefit   

 
4.12. Applicants have no housing need but are aged 55 or over and seeking sheltered 

housing.  They would benefit from the provision of a telecare service and the 
community aspect that sheltered housing provides.   

 
4.13. No local connection  
 
4.14. The applicant and their household do not meet the local connection criteria however 

live in the district or can demonstrate contribution to the district and are in housing 
need.    

 

Page 86



Housing Allocations Policy – informal Member consultation 4 February 2021 

Please find below a summary of the proposed changes to the Allocations Policy.   These are the key proposals that Members can shape.    

Proposed change Reason for change  Current policy 

1. Local connection 
Applicant resident 6 out of last 12 months or 3 out of 
last 5 years, or family members resident last 5 years  

 

Definition in Homeless Reduction Act – cannot discharge some 

homeless duties currently    

 

 Applicant resident 2 out of last 5 years  

 Family members resident last 3 years  

2. Unacceptable behaviour – housing related debt  
Those with more than £250 housing debt have to set up 
payment arrangement for 12 weeks to access Register  

 
Personal responsibility and accountability – improved behaviour 
of prospective tenants  

 
More than 8 weeks rent owed to be 
repaid for 13 weeks  

3. Income threshold increased 
£49,998 - one third of ‘average lower quartile housing 
sale price’ for the district in October 2020.   
 

 
Number of applicants on Register is not a true reflection of 
housing need in district.  Developers have raised concern about 
housing need in the district based on current figures.   

 
Current threshold  

 single people £24,628 gross  

 other households £43,098 gross   

4. Private rented tenants recognised   
Tenants on Assured Shorthold Tenancies awarded 
lowest level of priority because of tenancy type.    

 
6 month tenancies. Low number of applicants on Register - not 
a true reflection of housing need in district  

 
Not able to access Register unless in 
housing need.  

5. Homelessness  

 Urgent housing cases - one offer of accommodation 
only.  Officers select locations and property types.              

 Reduced priority for those homeless/threatened 
with homelessness  

 

 Applicants selective over property type/location resulting in 
unnecessary homelessness declarations.   

 Register is currently top heavy with homeless cases.  Myth 
that you need to be homeless to be housed 

 

 2 offers made, applicant chooses 
location and property type 

 High priority.  

6. Unborn children included   
Unborn children considered once 26 weeks pregnant   

 
Reduces demand on 1 bed properties and unnecessary voids 

 
Unborn children not currently considered 

7. Adapted properties  
Let to disabled household that needs the adaptations   

 
Correct use of adapted properties – best use of stock  

 
Let to highest housing need  

8. New developments  
Properties let to a mixture of bands 1 and 2  

 
To achieve sustainable developments and shape the Place 

 
Let to high band (band 1) only 

9. Management category 
Increased priority to existing social housing tenants in 
certain circumstances e.g. no longer need adaptations  

 
Better use of stock – two households off the Register 

 
Not in current policy  

10. Panel membership 
Membership of SHDC Officers and Registered Providers 
with housing in the district  

 
More transparent approach  

 
SHDC Officer membership only  

Vikki Cherry, Housing Services Manager. 5 January 2021   

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Allocation of properties in new developments 

The Allocations Policy 2021 presented to Policy Development Panel proposes that: 

1. There are four housing bands 

 Band 1 – Emergency Priority   

 Band 2 – Urgent Priority  
 

2. New developments:   
To ensure new schemes deliver balanced, sustainable communities, we will aim to allocate the new homes 
to a mixture of applicants with 50% of lets from band 1 and 50% of lets from band 2.   

 

Member feedback following informal consultation  
Comments were made regarding the letting of new developments in order to maximise the ability to create a 
sustainable, mixed new community.  Members suggested that a larger number of existing social housing tenants 
moved to the new developments as the Council has more knowledge on these households including how they 
conduct their tenancies and the additional checks in place for social housing tenants to access the Register.  
Consideration could also be made regarding housing those in lesser housing need in order to give all households a 
chance of being offered accommodation.   
 

Worked examples in response to Member feedback  
Option 1 – Officers recommended option: 50% of properties let to band 1 and 50% of properties let to band 2.    
 

 Applicant  Band Applicant’s circumstances* 

Plot 1  Mr Smith   1 Private tenant owed the Main Housing Duty following the Council being 
satisfied that they were made homeless through no fault of their own.  

Plot 2 Miss Jones  1 Private tenant, Council issued prohibition order due to disrepair. 

Plot 3  Mr Williams and 
Miss Walker  

1 Housebound in their current home due to medical reasons and 
adaptations are not possible due to property type.  

Plot 4  Miss Jackson  1 Private tenant owed the Main Housing Duty following the Council being 
satisfied that they were made homeless through no fault of their own. 

Plot 5  Mr and Mrs Davies  1 Private resident statutorily (naturally) overcrowded 

Plot 6  Miss Thomas  1 Private tenant unable to be discharged from hospital as current home 
not suitable for long term medical conditions  

Plot 7  Mr and Mrs 
Johnson  

2 Existing Registered Provider tenant currently living in South Holland, 
under occupying and willing to downsize.  

Plot 8  Mr Miles and Miss 
Sneath  

2 Supported housing tenant considered ready to move on and live 
independently.  

Plot 9  Mr Roberts  2 Existing SHDC tenant living in an adapted property and no longer 
require the adaptations.  

Plot 10  Mrs Wright  2 Existing Registered Provider tenant succeed to tenancy but does not 
need the adaptations in the property  

Plot 11 Mr Thompson 2 Existing Registered Provider tenant living in a three bedroom property 
willing to move to a 1 bedroom  

Plot 12  Mr Greaves  2 Son of SHDC tenant asked to leave by family and agreed to 6 months 
mediation  

 
Option 2 - 33% of properties let to band 1, 33% of properties let to band 2 and 33% of properties let to band 3.    
 

 Applicant  Band Applicant’s circumstances* 

Plot 1  Mr Smith   1 Owed the Main Housing Duty following the Council being satisfied that 
they were made homeless through no fault of their own.  

Plot 2 Miss Jones  1 Council issued prohibition order due to disrepair. 

Plot 3  Mr Williams and 
Miss Walker  

1 Housebound in their current home due to medical reasons and 
adaptations are not possible due to property type.  

Plot 4  Mr Greaves 1 Private tenant unable to be discharged from hospital as current home 
not suitable for long term medical conditions 

Plot 5  Mr and Mrs Davies  2 Existing Registered Provider tenant currently living in South Holland, 
under occupying and willing to downsize.  

 Band 3 – High Housing Need 

 Band 4 – Identified Housing Need  
 

Page 89



Plot 6  Miss Thomas  2 Supported housing tenant considered ready to move on and live 
independently.  

Plot 7  Mr and Mrs 
Johnson  

2 Existing SHDC tenant living in an adapted property and no longer 
require the adaptations.  

Plot 8  Mr Thompson 2 Existing Registered Provider tenant living in a three bedroom property 
willing to move to a 1 bedroom  

Plot 9  Mr Roberts  3 Living in private rented and has been served notice as landlord wishes 
to sell property.  SHDC has a duty to prevent homelessness.  

Plot 10  Mr and Mrs Wright  3 Living in private rented and they require one more bedroom than they 
currently have following daughter turning 12 - no longer being 
reasonable to share bedroom with 8 year old brother. 

Plot 11 Mr Thompson 3 SHDC tenant living in a house, struggling with arthritis in knees and 
requires a bungalow. 

Plot 12  Miss Jackson 3 Living in private rented accommodation and served notice due to loss 
of employment.   

 
Option 3 - 25% of properties let to band 1, 25% of properties let to band 2, 25% of properties let to band 3 and 25% 
of properties let to band 4.    
 

 Applicant  Band Applicant’s circumstances* 

Plot 1  Mr Smith   1 Owed the Main Housing Duty following the Council being satisfied that 
they were made homeless through no fault of their own.  

Plot 2 Miss Jones  1 Council issued prohibition order due to disrepair. 

Plot 3  Mr Williams and 
Miss Walker  

1 Housebound in their current home due to medical reasons and 
adaptations are not possible due to property type.  

Plot 4  Mr Greaves 2 Existing Registered Provider tenant living in a three bedroom property 
willing to move to a 1 bedroom 

Plot 5  Mr and Mrs Davies  2 Existing Registered Provider tenant currently living in South Holland, 
under occupying and willing to downsize.  

Plot 6  Miss Thomas  2 Supported housing tenant considered ready to move on and live 
independently.  

Plot 7  Mr and Mrs 
Johnson  

3 SHDC tenant living in a house, struggling with arthritis in knees and 
requires a bungalow. 

Plot 8  Mr Thompson 3 Living in private rented accommodation and served notice due to loss of 
employment.   

Plot 9  Mr Roberts  3 Living in private rented and has been served notice as landlord wishes to 
sell property.  SHDC has a duty to prevent homelessness.  

Plot 10  Mr and Mrs Wright  4 Evicted by private landlord found to be intentionally homeless  

Plot 11 Mr Thompson 4 Private rented tenant (accessed purely as living in a private rented 
property)  

Plot 12  Miss Jackson 4 Living in Peterborough in private rented accommodation, has secured a 
job in Sutton Bridge and needs to move closer to access work.  

 

Conclusion 

Officers have considered further options following informal consultation with Members, and run through 
hypothetical scenarios.   Officers recommend option 1 (let new developments to a mixture of bands 1 and 2 (50:50)).  
This option is recommended by Officers because: 

 Band 1 cases will have the most urgent housing need and their circumstances will have been fully 

investigated and evidenced by Officers.   

 the majority of existing social housing tenants are likely to be placed in band 2.  Councillors suggested 
increasing the number of properties let to existing social housing tenants (currently living in the district) as 
we are aware of their tenancy conduct and additional checks are carried out before they can access the 
Register.   

The proposed option is different to how new developments are let under the current policy and Officers anticipate 

that the changes will deliver a sustainable community that will integrate into the wider community as the individuals 

from these two bands will have a proven history of managing their housing successfully.   Page 90



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

  

To: Policy Development Panel – 2 March 2021 

 

(Author: Christine Morgan - Democratic Services Team Leader) 

 

Subject Policy Development Panel Work Programme 

 

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel  

 

 
Recommendation:  
 
That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion. 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  Background 
 
1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 

inclusion on its Work Programme. 
 
1.2  Issues 
 
1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 

consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified. 

 
1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 

shows: 
 

 The name of the task group 

 What it wants to achieve 

 Key dates 

 Membership of the task group 

 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel 
 
1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 

standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide 
the opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme. 

 
2.0  OPTIONS 
 
2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme. 
 
2.2 To do nothing. 

 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 10.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the  
 Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date. 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors  
 with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and 
 proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices. 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 

 Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 

 Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 

 Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 

 one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

5.1 Corporate Priorities 

5.1.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 

 suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 

 strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 

 indicators against which each potential task group is considered identifies how strongly the 

 topic links to the Council's key aims and priorities. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 This report has no implications however, as individual items are progressed through the 

Work Programme, their impact on wards and communities will be assessed. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1  None. 

Background papers:- None 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Team Leader 

Telephone Number 01775 764454 

Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar 2020/21 / 2021/22 

Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2020/21  

Page 92



 
APPENDIX A 

 
Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items 

 

Date of 
Meeting 

Agenda items 

2 March 
2021 

 Policy Register – standing agenda item.   

 Housing Allocations Policy 
 

22 June 
2021 

 Policy Register – standing agenda item.   

 Street Numbering Policy 

 HRA Development Framework 

 Planning Design Task Group Final Report – updated following 
further work by the Task Group, as agreed at 23/6/20. 

 Planning Reform (if any information to report, update to be provided 
by the Planning and Building Control Manager) 

21 Sep 2021  Policy Register – standing agenda item.   

16 Nov 2021  Policy Register – standing agenda item.   

5 Jan 2022 
Joint 
PMP/PDP 

 Budget Scrutiny 

18 Jan 2022  Policy Register – standing agenda item.   

23 Mar 2022  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  

 
 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 
 

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2020/2021 
 

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership of 
Task Group 

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel 

Planning Design  To consider the draft Supplementary 
Planning Design document and how 
design issues raised (including those 
arising from the Performance Monitoring 
Panel’s Review of Implemented Planning 
Decisions tour) could be addressed within 
the document; and 
That the Task Group’s recommendations 
be incorporated into the draft 
Supplementary Planning Document, to be 
considered by the Policy Development 
Panel, with final agreement by the South 
East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning 
Committee 
Scope agreed at first Task Group 
meeting 28 January 2020 
 

25 June 2019 28 January 
2020 
 

J Astill (Chair) 
J L King 
P A Redgate 
J L Reynolds  
S C Walsh 

Final Report to PDP 23 
June 2020. 
Further work to be 
undertaken, with 
updated final report to a 
future meeting, early 
2021, once direction has 
been clarified with 
regard to the 
Government White 
Paper on Planning 
Reform 

Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Task Group 

Scope to be agreed at first meeting of the 
Task Group.   
Task Group to consider the facts on the 
CIL, and findings to be fed into 
Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) 
 
 
 
 

24 
September 
2019 
Reconsidered 
21/1/20 

To run at same 
time as Planning 
Design Task 
Group-findings 
to be fed into 
SPD. 
Update 
(15/9/20)-work 
to commence 
early 2021, once 
direction has 

Avery 
Drury 
McLean  
Woolf 

 

P
age 95



been clarified 
with regard to  
Government 
White Paper on 
Planning 
Reform 

 
PENDING TASK GROUPS 

 

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership of 
Task Group 

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel 

Devolution Task Group Executive Manager Governance to set 
Terms of Reference once White Paper 
published 

23 June 2020 TBC TBC  

Data Protection/Data 
Retention Task Group 

To consider the implications of 
forthcoming changes to the Data 
Protection Policy as follows: 

 To develop the new policy in light of 
issues raised in the gap analysis and 
legislative changes and that a more 
detailed suggested scope would be 
circulated prior to the first Task Group 
meeting. 

 

3 October 
2017 

11 December 
2017 

H Drury 
M D McLean 
A R Woolf 
(Chairman) 
A Harrison  

To PDP 1 May 2018  
To Cabinet 29 May 2018 

 

P
age 96


	Agenda
	2.a) Policy Development Panel
	2.b) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	2.c) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	2.d) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	7. Key Decision Plan
	8. Policy Register
	9. Review of Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy
	Appendix 1 for Housing Allocations Policy
	Appendix 2 for Housing Allocations Policy
	Appendix 3 for Housing Allocaitons Policy

	10. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


